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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This hearing of

          3  the General Welfare Committee is now called to

          4  order. I'd like to apologize to everyone for the

          5  late start. Obviously, everything in New York City

          6  today is a little off track so-to-speak and we're

          7  all grappling with it. So, I'm sorry. We're all

          8  dealing with it and as best we can. I'm sorry we've

          9  gotten a late start, but we do think it was

         10  important, given so many people have made themselves

         11  available and have oriented their schedules to this

         12  hearing, that we move forward.

         13                 In just a moment, we're going to

         14  start with a vote on an important matter that is now

         15  ready to go to the floor of the Council, and we'll

         16  speak to that in a moment, then we want to talk

         17  about some very difficult current events that we're

         18  going to ask the Commissioner to respond to, as we

         19  indicated to him at our last hearing, and then we're

         20  going to go into the core topic of today related to

         21  clinical trials, which is a continuing discussion

         22  this Committee has been having.

         23                 But let me say at the outset, this is

         24  the last meeting of the General Welfare Committee,

         25  not only for 2005 but for the entire four years of
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          2  this Council term. I want to thank everyone who has

          3  been a part of this experience. I want to thank

          4  first and foremost the members of the Committee and

          5  two of whom are here, Gale Brewer and Bill Perkins,

          6  who have been tremendous colleagues to work with and

          7  with whom we share a lot philosophically and we

          8  share a lot in terms of approach to government and

          9  it has been a tremendous partnership and I thank

         10  them both profoundly.

         11                 I want to also say about Mr. Perkins,

         12  this Council is going to miss him greatly. I think

         13  it's fair to say very few members of this Council

         14  have had as big an impact as he in the last four

         15  years and very much to the good for all of New York

         16  City.

         17                 He has been not only a tremendous

         18  leader in the Council but a tremendous leader on

         19  this Committee, and a lot of the most important

         20  legislation we entertained was his legislation, a

         21  lot of the most important hearings we held,

         22  including on the clinical trials matter, at his

         23  urging and his direction. So, I think the General

         24  Welfare Committee will continue. We aren't sure what

         25  the new Council will look like. We're not sure who
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          2  is going to be doing what. The Committee and its

          3  work will continue. The Committee and its work will

          4  certainly miss profoundly the contribution of Bill

          5  Perkins.

          6                 I want to thank you, Mr. Perkins.

          7                 I want to now say also that we have

          8  been blessed with the most tremendous staff. I think

          9  everyone knows that my dear, dear colleague Jackie

         10  Sherman, who has done outstanding work and tireless

         11  work for this Committee, and really has been in so

         12  many ways the continuity in all the good work that

         13  we've done.

         14                 But I also want to thank Peter Bruno

         15  and Steve Solomon, Sean Robin, Luisa Sanchez, and

         16  John Anamontoto, all of whom have done great work

         17  for the Committee over these last four years and

         18  have made everything come together for us.

         19                 Some other members of the Committee

         20  will be coming in soon, and I want to thank everyone

         21  for their contribution. But I'd like to now turn to

         22  the first order of business, which is the bill that

         23  has been authored by Council Member Tracy Boyland. I

         24  should note we in the General Welfare Committee have

         25  a very, very special relationship with Chair Boyland
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          2  in her capacity as Chair of the Women's Issues

          3  Committee. Every time I think it's the last time

          4  we're going to be together, this is the fourth last

          5  time we're going to be together on an important

          6  matter, but this is really the one, Intro. 492-A.

          7  Tracy's bill establishing a Parent Advocate Advisory

          8  Board for ACS. I think it's such an important step

          9  forward that it is allowing the voice of parents to

         10  have a more direct and distinct role in the work of

         11  ACS, something that had to happen.

         12                 Tracy worked tirelessly with

         13  advocates with the Administration to make sure this

         14  would happen. You know, this is her last Committee

         15  meeting and one of her last days as a Council member

         16  and she is going out with a very good bang. She's

         17  going out making an impact. We're going to miss you

         18  deeply. I've said it now four times, but I want to

         19  say the more important thing, which is, it's very

         20  appropriate that you're going out where you're

         21  leaving a lasting contribution and defending parents

         22  and children in the process.

         23                 So, we are one member away from being

         24  able to vote this out. It will go to the floor

         25  tomorrow and it will be one of the last things we
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          2  vote on in this session. I want to give you an

          3  opportunity, Tracy, to say a few words, and

          4  hopefully in the course of your few words, one more

          5  General Welfare member will miraculously appear and

          6  we will vote, and then we'll go on to the other.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: How did you

          8  know they were going to do that? See, that's the

          9  Bill Perkins's training, as you just continue to

         10  talk.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to take

         12  exception to that. On behalf of Mr. Perkins, he has

         13  never done such a thing.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: The other

         15  thing I learned from Council Member Perkins, while

         16  we're taking those photos on the step, that elbow

         17  could come out at any time and knock you out of the

         18  way.

         19                 But it's a wonderful training and I

         20  think we've had a wonderful eight years now

         21  together. And Bill, the Chair, four years. That's

         22  true. It has been longer than my marriage. So, this

         23  is a good thing that -- is this like a divorce or

         24  something? One door closes, another door opens. You

         25  never really truly get rid of a Boyland, I hear.
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          2  That's what they tell us in Brooklyn.

          3                 So, we're going to continue to do

          4  what we do and stick for it.

          5                 But on a more serious note, Michael

          6  has been with, I guess the Women's Issues Committee

          7  from the time that we started. Ahh, Christine has

          8  arrived, and I'll move forward. And this is a very

          9  important piece of legislation, Intro. 492, and it's

         10  really giving more power to Foster Care parents,

         11  with the experience in child welfare system and to

         12  offer some recommendations on all aspects of the

         13  foster care and preventive care policy.

         14                 So, we're happy to have this advocacy

         15  group, and more importantly an organization that can

         16  really sit down and be the voice.

         17                 And the Commissioner has been

         18  wonderful in opening up and embracing this piece of

         19  legislation, Intro. 492.

         20                 So, we thank him for all of his time

         21  and the 90 meetings that we've had, not just on this

         22  piece of legislation, but on everything that the

         23  Women's issue has done, as well as the General

         24  Welfare.

         25                 So, let me be quick today because I
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          2  know that the Committee has a lot of business, but

          3  I'd like to thank Council Member DeBlasio, and his

          4  excellent attorney Jackie Sherman. A lightning bolt.

          5  All right, for the support and assistance in getting

          6  Intro. 492 passed.

          7                 In previous years the Child Welfare

          8  system has been quick, too quick to break up

          9  families, but lately now the new Commissioner has

         10  brought along this bill, with an important

         11  precedence in the Head Start and development

         12  disability system that really puts families

         13  together. And this bill will help institutionalize

         14  the current administrative move towards

         15  neighborhood-based services. And most importantly,

         16  this bill will also help give parents a voice. Mike,

         17  it's a voice in the child welfare system.

         18                 So, I urge a yes vote from the

         19  colleagues and the members of the General Welfare

         20  Committee, as well as tomorrow we will be bringing

         21  the same bill, if passed, to the full body.

         22                 So, I thank all of those, Bakku

         23  Karavela, Anthony Alexis, Richard Johnson, Doreen

         24  Milton, all of those that help put this together.

         25  Where is Steve? Steve, thank you for keeping the
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          2  numbers together, and everyone who worked very

          3  closely on the Women's Issues Committee, especially

          4  on Intro. 492.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. And

          7  thank you, again, Council Member Boyland, for what

          8  you've done with this legislation.

          9                 The Clerk will now call the roll.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Proposed Introduction

         11  492-A, Council Member DeBlasio.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I want to

         15  have an opportunity to explain my vote.

         16                 I want to first vote aye on this very

         17  important piece of legislation.

         18                 I want to commend Council Member

         19  Boyland for it and for her service to this Committee

         20  and to this City over the past eight years.

         21                 I'm not quite sure what she meant by

         22  the "elbows on the steps." But I vote aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I also want to

         25  vote aye and want to congratulate Council Member
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          2  Boyland.

          3                 There's a long list of things that

          4  Council Member Boyland has accomplished for the

          5  women and children of New York City, for those women

          6  and children in need, and this is another terrific

          7  addition to that legacy that can speak to making the

          8  lives of women and children the better in our City.

          9  And I vote aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I, too, want

         12  to vote aye. I also want to thank the incredible

         13  intelligence of Bill Perkins who has made I think us

         14  proud to be in the City Council, and also Tracy

         15  Boyland, because she never let's the issues of women

         16  and children go to second place. They're always the

         17  top of the agenda, and for that, we never forget.

         18                 I also want to thank the incredible

         19  advocates that have made this bill possible, 492-A.

         20  I know that Michael Estrom (phonetic) and the men

         21  and women who are part of his advisory group have

         22  been informal for years and been part of whatever

         23  Commissioner at ACS was in the leadership.

         24                 Michael, in the team of individuals

         25  who are part of advocacy have been steadfast, both
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          2  training, participating with coalitions and picking

          3  up an agenda that actually nobody else had the

          4  foresight to think about.

          5                 So, I congratulate him, the past

          6  advisory committee members and all future. And I

          7  vote aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of four in

          9  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         10  abstentions, the item is adopted.

         11                 Council Members, please sign the

         12  Committee reports.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. And

         14  in light of today's transportation situation, we

         15  will certainly keep the roll open for other members

         16  as they're able to arrive and vote.

         17                 Let me move on. Thank you, again,

         18  Council Member Boyland. We know you have other

         19  commitments, so you're always welcome to stay as

         20  long as you can, but we know you have other

         21  commitments.

         22                 Let me just say welcome to everyone

         23  again formally, welcome to all my colleagues. This

         24  is our last General Welfare Committee hearing of

         25  this term, and thank you again to everyone, as I
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          2  said earlier, to everyone who has been a part of

          3  this, including all the advocates and all the folks

          4  from the agencies that we work with every day.

          5                 Just some ground rules. We're going

          6  to first ask Commissioner Mattingly to update us on

          7  the investigation of the recent tragedies related to

          8  several deaths of children and to speak to us about

          9  what it means for the approach ACS is taking to

         10  family reunification.

         11                 We're going to have an opportunity

         12  then to ask questions on that topic, and then we

         13  will move into the scheduled topic, which is of

         14  course clinical trials and following up on our May

         15  5th hearing, where I think very, very important

         16  information was brought forward and today we hope to

         17  have even more and an opportunity to go much deeper

         18  into that matter.

         19                 On the situation, everyone in New

         20  York City, as usual, was in a very painful way

         21  riveted by the deaths of these two children, and it

         22  always leads us to want to understand what we're all

         23  doing and what we can do better.

         24                 I think, as I've always said about

         25  Commissioner Mattingly, he has provided a model of

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  openness and of taking responsibility for what's

          3  going on in his agency, and I appreciate the way he

          4  has worked with the public after these tragedies in

          5  the ways he's attempted to be very clear in giving

          6  information.

          7                 We'd like to go further today. We'd

          8  like a deeper clarification of where we stand and

          9  where we are going.

         10                 We've talked previously in this

         11  Committee about the importance of ensuring that

         12  every element in the process is at maximum

         13  effectiveness because we are dealing literally with

         14  the lives or the potential deaths of children, and

         15  that means everything from the people we're hiring,

         16  and how we're training them and how we're

         17  supervising them to the budgets that we grant for

         18  this work, preventative work and for work once there

         19  is a problem.

         20                 Obviously to the polices that we

         21  have, everything should be on the table, in my

         22  opinion, in this discussion, and I think it is

         23  incumbent upon us in some ways maybe even to go

         24  farther than any commissioner or any administration

         25  can go in saying are we devoting enough resources?
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          2  Are we devoting enough staff? Are policies

          3  everything they could be? Are they rigorous enough?

          4  Are we setting the bar high enough for family

          5  reunification? We understand the ideal is for a

          6  child to be with their biological family. We also

          7  understand that literally this is a matter of life

          8  and death, and we have to ensure that we are

          9  absolutely certain it is appropriate to return a

         10  child to their biological family.

         11                 I think all those pieces are

         12  interrelated, and I think you can never separate the

         13  level of personnel and the amount of personnel and

         14  the level of training, you can never separate those

         15  pieces from the quality of the policy.

         16                 So, certainly today we're going to

         17  want a sense from the Commissioner about where we're

         18  going on all of that, and we obviously want maximum

         19  transparency going forward.

         20                 It's a painful discussion but it's

         21  one that will help everyone to work better on behalf

         22  of children, and we certainly have been particularly

         23  focused in this Council on preventative services.

         24                 I think we have often been the

         25  protector of preventative services in the budget. We
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          2  were thrilled to see a greater commitment recently

          3  from the Administration on that front. We were

          4  thrilled to see the model of investing savings from

          5  other fronts into prevention, and we'd like to take

          6  that even further to the day when we no longer have

          7  to talk about even one tragedy.

          8                 We have so much to do in terms of

          9  analyzing what happens. I want to commend Council

         10  Member Quinn. I was commending the various members

         11  of General Welfare earlier. It's been a great group

         12  to work with. I feel like the band is breaking up.

         13  This is the Beetles in 1970. But it has been a great

         14  group to work with. I thank you for everything

         15  you've done with and for this Committee. I

         16  particularly want to commend you on the anticipated

         17  passage of the legislation establishing an

         18  Independent Child Fatality Review Panel. I think it

         19  is absolutely consistent with what this Council has

         20  been about to put the issues forward and create more

         21  transparency, and that leads to more action and more

         22  resources going where they need. And we are

         23  committed to that going forward.

         24                 So, with no further comment, I'd like

         25  to ask the Commissioner to come forward to discuss

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  first the situation of these individual children and

          3  the larger question of reunification. We, again,

          4  will do questions on that topic, and then we will go

          5  around and say a few opening comments.

          6                 I have some and I'm sure Council

          7  Member Perkins has some on clinical trials. And

          8  we'll go to the Commissioner's testimony on that as

          9  well.

         10                 Welcome, Commissioner. And welcome to

         11  your team. We thank you for being here. Again,

         12  Commissioner, we apologize for the late start today.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Good

         14  afternoon, Chair DeBlasio, and members of the

         15  various committees here today.

         16                 I, too, would like to begin. I'm John

         17  B. Mattingly, the Commissioner of the Administration

         18  for Children's Services in New York City.

         19                 I, too, would like to begin thanking,

         20  first, Council Member Boyland for her leadership in

         21  getting the Child Welfare Parent Advocate Advisory

         22  Committee into statute. I think it is a fine piece

         23  of legislation, and I promise you that we will pay

         24  great attention to its recommendations and as we

         25  will respond to concerns and questions that they
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          2  have.

          3                 As Council Member Quinn is leaving, I

          4  also want to thank her for her leadership in the

          5  Child Fatality legislation, because I think that

          6  focus on trends that we see here in New York City

          7  will be enormously helpful. It was only weeks after

          8  I got here that we were able to see that trend about

          9  children dying in rollover situations, so the more

         10  we keep our eyes focused on those kind of trends, I

         11  think the better off we'll all be. So, thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Go ahead,

         13  Commissioner.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I'm getting

         15  ready.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Sorry. Get your

         17  game face on there.

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We are here

         19  today to discuss two I think critically important

         20  issues; first the safety from abuse or neglect of

         21  the children of this City; and, secondly, the

         22  important review of the clinical trials regarding

         23  HIV and AIDS that happened some years ago.

         24                 As we start out, and very seriously,

         25  I want to thank the Council for its oversight
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          2  regarding both of these issues. We at ACS are

          3  responsible to the public because we do the public's

          4  work, and all of us take that very seriously, but

          5  the Council, of course, represents the public in

          6  this matter, as well, and so we think it is our

          7  responsibility to be open and straight forward with

          8  what we know and what we don't know in these topics

          9  to the Council. So, I sincerely want to thank the

         10  Council for having us.

         11                 We're here today to discuss these two

         12  important topics. Starting first with the question

         13  of safety, it is the responsibility of the

         14  Administration for Children's Services to protect

         15  every child in this City from abuse or neglect.

         16  That's ultimately our job.

         17                 In any situation in which whenever a

         18  child is hurt, whom we have had been in a position

         19  to protect, and for whatever reason we weren't able

         20  to protect that child from being hurt or killed, we

         21  take that matter extremely seriously, and not only

         22  are we affected by it right down to the caseworker

         23  level, I can tell you having spoken to the

         24  caseworker who is still with us regarding one of

         25  these cases, we take it seriously personally, but we
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          2  also take it as a challenge to learn from these

          3  events, to hold people accountable in the situations

          4  where that is the direction we need to go in, but

          5  especially to take a careful look at how we manage

          6  the organization, the policies and procedures we

          7  have in place, the systems that we have in place, to

          8  see what we can do to avoid that kind of tragedy

          9  into the future.

         10                 We will accept ourselves nothing less

         11  than being right 100 percent of the time. The public

         12  and you representing the public will have to decide

         13  day in and day out, week in and week out, year in

         14  and year out, to what extent you think we are

         15  carrying out our responsibilities, but we will

         16  expect nothing less than being right every time.

         17                 Let me begin then by addressing the

         18  two recent tragic deaths of children who were once

         19  in foster care.

         20                 As Commissioner, as I say, I believe

         21  that whenever we're in a position to protect a child

         22  and that child is hurt, we must fully examine the

         23  case.

         24                 This is why I requested and made

         25  public, I think in an unprecedented manner, and
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          2  very, very soon after the events, a public review

          3  telling us everything that we could learn in a few

          4  weeks time, managed by our accountability review

          5  team. We called for that review and announced the

          6  results of it publicly, which I believe we have

          7  provided to the Council.

          8                 Over the coming weeks, Commissioner

          9  Chahine who joins me here, she is responsible for

         10  all of our Child Welfare Programs, over the coming

         11  weeks, she and I will lead a top to bottom child

         12  safety review that looks over the coming months at

         13  all of the factors that were involved in these

         14  cases, but that also asks our people on the front

         15  line and in middle management what we can be doing

         16  from their experience that we need to do differently

         17  at the agency related to this case or any case.

         18                 We are not in the business of taking

         19  the policy to the front line, pointing to it and

         20  saying why don't you do this? Why don't you follow

         21  this policy. It's too easy I think for

         22  administrators. We're going to take to the front

         23  line, and everywhere in between, our sense of

         24  lessons we have learned from these two cases, our

         25  report on them, and then we're going to ask people
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          2  throughout the organization, as well as foster and

          3  adoptive parents, as well as birth parents, what we

          4  can do better to protect all of the children with

          5  whom we come in contact.

          6                 The two findings I think that are

          7  most important, but don't necessarily capture the

          8  headlines, they're really two-fold.

          9                 One, when you look at these two

         10  situations, well, I couldn't help but be touched by

         11  the difficult challenge that so many people, poor

         12  people that are caught up in domestic violence, who

         13  are caught up with mental health challenges, who are

         14  caught up in drug abuse or alcohol abuse, those

         15  families face tremendous challenges in our current

         16  society across this country, and when we looked at

         17  both of these situations to get some sense of just

         18  how difficult it is for some parents, most parents

         19  who struggle -- do it quite successfully, but for

         20  some parents to do the job that we all want parents

         21  to do.

         22                 Second thing I think we learned is

         23  that the decisions that our people make are

         24  extremely complex, challenging and difficult to be

         25  sure about even when you do everything the way the
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          2  book says it should be done. Those are the two

          3  biggest lessons we got from this.

          4                 And we intend to work harder on

          5  making both of those situations better into the

          6  future.

          7                 Now, we'll be very shortly available

          8  to answer specific questions about these cases or

          9  any safety-related issues that you'd like to talk

         10  about. We've provided a fair amount of information

         11  in the testimony and there's a lot more that we've

         12  sent over as the substance of the reviews.

         13                 I think that we should be very

         14  careful about focusing on any particular

         15  safety-related issues such as reunification.

         16                 We must look at reunification. We

         17  have and we will continue to do so. However, there

         18  are safety issues throughout our system and we

         19  intend to look at them all.

         20                 The rate of reunifications over the

         21  years, and we have the data, should you want it,

         22  does not show any spike in recent years. Nor does

         23  the rate of reentry show any increase.

         24                 Furthermore, in these two cases, in

         25  the final analysis, it's hard to challenge the basic
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          2  decisions made by staff and the court.

          3                 These were not simple and straight

          4  forward, but looking at all the cases we face, we're

          5  not sure that we did everything right after

          6  reunification, but we're not sure either that the

          7  reunification decision itself in the final analysis,

          8  anything can be challenged, but in the final

          9  analysis was improper.

         10                 I also want to finally mention the

         11  $27 million that the State and we invested for the

         12  first time in the history of this City based on

         13  projected savings from foster care costs in this

         14  current year that we invested in for the first time

         15  after care services for families.

         16                 And also for the first time targeted

         17  prevention dollars to particular communities of high

         18  need and to particular issues that challenge those

         19  communities. In one case a high rate of incidence of

         20  infants coming into care and the other, a high rate

         21  of incidence of teenagers in care.

         22                 We have much to learn. We have much

         23  to improve upon. There is no question in my mind

         24  about this.

         25                 We have to be right every time, and
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          2  in order to do that, we have to be willing to learn

          3  day in and day out how to do the work better, based

          4  on all of our experience in the work, and that is

          5  our commitment to Council and to the public at

          6  large.

          7                 If you look away, as you manage one

          8  of these systems, if you look away for too long from

          9  any particular piece of the system, you have to

         10  revisit it and restrengthen it.

         11                 So, we are committed to not looking

         12  away from any part of that system from beginning to

         13  end of our involvement with families.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         16  Commissioner.

         17                 I just want to follow up on a couple

         18  of points you made.

         19                 I couldn't agree more with your

         20  statement that there's obviously no panaceas here.

         21  And that the concern I raise about reunification is

         22  not done so in isolation. So, clearly if every

         23  reunification decision were made perfectly, there

         24  still would be the possibility of danger to a child

         25  afterwards, just as there is danger to a child in a
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          2  situation that there's never been any cause for

          3  concern to begin with.  At any moment in any family,

          4  any child might be in danger, and you'd never have

          5  had a single warning to get you into the situation

          6  to provide protection. We understand that.

          7                 There's a lot we need to think about

          8  about our society, about how violence is integrated

          9  into the life of our society and how children are

         10  often looked at by parents as their property, as

         11  opposed to other humanbeings that they need to

         12  protect and honor. These are much, much bigger

         13  questions.

         14                 On the narrow question, let me ask a

         15  factual or an interpretational point. Do you believe

         16  that the level of violence done to children is

         17  similar in cases of reunification and in cases of

         18  foster care? Do you believe that this is sort of a

         19  policy or a principle matter? Do you believe that

         20  danger exists roughly equally in either venue? Or is

         21  there any evidence that says one is safer than the

         22  other?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: As you know

         24  there are some advocates on one side of this

         25  argument.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Oh yes.

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We are not,

          4  we hope, on one side but hopefully down the middle.

          5                 If in placing children in foster care

          6  they are as subject to reabuse, as they would be

          7  from remaining at home, we need to take an

          8  absolutely radical look at what we are doing. That's

          9  not what we are about. I don't believe such rates

         10  are high and I think we can justify to some extent

         11  the rates at which they exist. But it's not just the

         12  reabuse we need to keep in mind.

         13                 I met with my Parent Advisory Board

         14  Monday last week. No, Monday this week. And one of

         15  the parents told me how she had lost her child at

         16  age three months. She was a substance abuser. And

         17  just got her back after three years. Struggled

         18  throughout that time to get all of the requirements

         19  done she needed to get done to get clean and to be

         20  ready for this child to return home.

         21                 It's three years later now, and this

         22  child doesn't see her as her mother. She is scared

         23  to death, now that reunification has happened, and

         24  it will take some time for that to get better.

         25                 And this is in a situation in which
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          2  the foster family worked with the birth parent from

          3  the beginning and acted as an extended family, and

          4  kept the birth mother in contact with the child. But

          5  you understand.

          6                 There are prices that had to be paid.

          7  In this case had to be paid. But there are prices

          8  that are paid even when a child isn't hurt in care.

          9  She will have to learn to bond with a new mother,

         10  and it's actually her birth mother.

         11                 So, that's why I don't want to --

         12  it's too easy to just sort of compare children

         13  reabused in foster care with children who remain in

         14  their home and are hurt again. That's actually, I

         15  think we can defend that around the country as well

         16  as here in New York City. But we must always keep in

         17  mind that children who come into care pay a price

         18  for that. Sometimes the price is something that must

         19  be paid because the child is not safe at home. But

         20  we always need to keep in mind this balancing act

         21  that child welfare is all about.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I respect that

         23  entirely, and I don't want to belabor the point. I

         24  just want to make the point that, obviously in this

         25  dynamic if there were a numerical indicator that was
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          2  profoundly slanted one way or the other, I think

          3  that would be crucial.

          4                 So, the goal is no child fatalities

          5  and maximum family reunification and maximum support

          6  for the child in whatever environment.

          7                 I'm asking you, again, is there any

          8  data in your view that justifies clearly that it is

          9  more dangerous for children in reunified families

         10  versus more dangerous for children in foster

         11  families?

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sorry, I

         13  wandered on too long.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's okay.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No, not that

         16  I'm aware of.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You believe

         18  there is no way to differentiate, okay.

         19                 Let me go one more point and both my

         20  colleagues have questions.

         21                 The other point is, your review

         22  suggests, from what you just said, reunification

         23  choices in these two cases were accurate, the

         24  follow-up was not.

         25                 Two-part question. One, just could
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          2  you say bluntly and succinctly what was wrong with

          3  the follow-up?

          4                 Two, is it not true that greater

          5  resources might have allowed for better follow-up,

          6  meaning more staff, or better paid staff, or better

          7  trained staff, whatever it was?

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  CHAHINE: Good afternoon, Chair DeBlasio, and members

         10  of the Committee.

         11                 I think --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

         13  reintroduce yourself.

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         15  CHAHINE: I'm Zeinab Chahine, Executive Deputy

         16  Commissioner for Child Welfare Programs.

         17                 I think when we talk about these two

         18  cases we have to distinguish between them. In one

         19  case, the reunification decision about four years

         20  ago, seemed to be totally appropriate. There was no

         21  indication at the time, nor now when we look back,

         22  that all of the activities that needed to be done

         23  were not done. I mean, everything that we looked at

         24  so far tells us, you know, that the decision was

         25  based on the participation of the father in various
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          2  services and preparation. There was a year of trial

          3  discharge, and visits, and reunification effort and

          4  services.

          5                 So, when I look at the other case in

          6  the Gillians's child death tragedy, we see again in

          7  hindsight the decision may appear to be not, of

          8  course, the one that we would like to see.

          9                 But when you take into consideration

         10  all of the facts then leading up to that

         11  reunification, we feel also that people made that

         12  decision based on the information they had then

         13  about the mother's ability to care for that child.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Respectfully,

         15  my question was, I was accepting that for the

         16  purposes of the discussion and saying what was wrong

         17  in the follow-up then?

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         19  CHAHINE: In the Gillians's situation, I think the

         20  support services that the mother needed, needed to

         21  be stronger.

         22                 When we look back now and see, for

         23  example, all the issues that she was struggling

         24  with, we feel that she needed more support, she

         25  needed more services, she needed our ability to look
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          2  at all of the combination of factors that were

          3  influencing the circumstances, I think it seemed

          4  like we could have been able to do more in that.

          5                 Again, looking at all of this now,

          6  and putting all of this information together in

          7  terms of the substance abuse issues that came to

          8  light after the discharge, for example, the fact

          9  that she had one positive drug test and subsequent

         10  to that she was not participating in drug treatment.

         11  There were issues around her child care and housing

         12  and, you know, there were many things that were

         13  going on for her that I think at one point in time

         14  we did recognize that support was needed and efforts

         15  were made to make referrals to put that in place.

         16  But I think it didn't happen --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, just in the

         18  interest of time, I'll cut in and say, so that's an

         19  honest answer and I appreciate it, and it's

         20  consistent with the way you've handled the

         21  situation.

         22                 My question is, therefore, it's

         23  either the supervision of the staff, the training of

         24  the staff, the quantity of the staff, the amount of

         25  budget you have.
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          2                 I mean, let's talk turkey here. Is it

          3  not true that something structurally -- let's give

          4  your policies credit and your leadership credit.

          5  Don't you need more firepower in effect? Don't you

          6  need more people and a bigger budget for this type

          7  of work?

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  CHAHINE: When we look at what happened in these

         10  cases, you can always say, well, you know, more

         11  staff, more training, more this, more that, but I

         12  think it's much more complicated than that. I think

         13  as a system we have done so much to hire, train,

         14  manage, supervise. I think we've done a lot over the

         15  ten years. What we see here right now is the kind of

         16  assessment and practice that needs to get to a

         17  higher level. I think that people are trying to do

         18  the best that they can. I think they can get better.

         19  And that's what we're finding in the system is that

         20  no matter how much you train and how much you

         21  supervise and how much you manage, you still need to

         22  do more and you still need to improve because these

         23  situations are very complex and you need to

         24  strengthen it.

         25                 I think that's where we find
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          2  ourselves. It's not just a matter of training them

          3  more. I think in some circumstances we need to do

          4  more training. In others we're looking to enhance

          5  management.

          6                 For example, we found out that if we

          7  were to, for example, put all of our Family Services

          8  Units under one manager who could dedicate their

          9  attention to that particular program, that would

         10  help us to enhance that management and the

         11  supervision oversight over that program.

         12                 It's something that we learned over

         13  the past year when we did that in one of the

         14  boroughs and seemed to be effective.

         15                 So, that's the kind of thing that

         16  we're continuing to learn from and improve.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No one is

         18  obviously trying to be simplistic here or look for

         19  panaceas. I think I'm going to turn to my colleagues

         20  now.

         21                 I'm just going to say that you are

         22  doing the most noble work and you're also doing the

         23  hardest work, where, you know, an error accounts for

         24  something much more profound than any other agency.

         25  You know that.
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          2                 There is no amount of money you can

          3  put on the life of a child. So, if it were a matter

          4  of more money being needed, it should be all of our

          5  mission to find it, or better training or whatever

          6  it is.

          7                 I do think, from your own report from

          8  some days ago, it does suggest that a higher level

          9  of contact with that particular mother might have

         10  led to a better sheparding of her path, and that to

         11  some extent it does take, you know, a level of human

         12  direction to get someone to follow their better

         13  angels, and that does get back to everything from

         14  supervision to training to the amount of staff.

         15                 I imagine if you could go do this

         16  scenario over, you would have the people involved

         17  have more stronger and frequent contact with that

         18  mother and close the loop on outstanding issues and

         19  pieces more rigorously.

         20                 So, in good faith, we will leave it

         21  to you all to determine, as the next budget process

         22  is now beginning, what is right I think in this

         23  Council, there would be receptivity to making this

         24  more of a priority. I don't think we want to be back

         25  here in a few months talking of another tragedy if
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          2  there was any chance that we could take a step

          3  structurally to stop it.

          4                 I hear you loud and clear, it's

          5  things that you have to some extent fix within the

          6  resources and the dynamics you have now. I respect

          7  that, and I know you're capable of continuing to

          8  improve your agency.

          9                 But as an oversight agency and a

         10  budgetary entity and a legislative entity, we're

         11  always listening for any place that we can

         12  contribute, and we don't want to find out there was

         13  something we could have done that was not asked of

         14  us.

         15                 So, I leave it that clearly. Let me

         16  turn to Gale Brewer.

         17                 Let me turn to Bill Perkins. I'm

         18  sorry.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I don't know

         20  when all this respect started coming. I should have

         21  been term-limited sooner. But thank you anyway.

         22                 You know, I guess the objective here

         23  is ideally reunification. Unfortunately, what we're

         24  learning is that failure is fatal and I find it sort

         25  of for me counter-intuitive to say that we could not
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          2  fault the original decision in either case to return

          3  the children to their parents.

          4                 I can't, it's not that clear, it's

          5  not that obvious to me. And I know that apparently

          6  there was some processes involved that informed the

          7  decision, but clearly if after that decision to go

          8  down that road resulted in this fatality, then

          9  what's on the road or what was in the decision,

         10  something has to be, you understand? So, I need you

         11  to help me understand why you think that the

         12  original decision was a good decision. Because it

         13  would seem to me that there was something wrong

         14  there, that that reunification should not have

         15  happened. And if it shouldn't have happened, then we

         16  need a way to figure out how to prevent it from

         17  happening prematurely or without that appropriate

         18  safeguards and supports.

         19                 Would you help me with that?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: This is a

         21  very, very important question, and I think you put

         22  your finger right on something that we try to pay a

         23  lot of attention to.

         24                 Both decisions clearly now were

         25  wrong. So, there's no question about that. Both of
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          2  these children are no longer with us. The decision

          3  to place those children back home turned out wrong.

          4  So, I don't want to in any way, shape or form want

          5  to say that, saying anything but that. So, you're

          6  right there.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Because

          8  you have a sentence in here that says just the

          9  opposite of what you and I just agreed to.

         10                 It says here, I don't know, maybe I'm

         11  misreading it. So, that's why I want to bring it

         12  out, if you don't mind.

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: In the final

         15  analysis we could not fault the original decision.

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, am I

         18  misunderstanding?

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Let me try to

         20  parse this. I'm sorry if we're not clear.

         21                 It would be actually easier for us

         22  were we to say this was a terrible decision from

         23  beginning to end, how they made it we don't know,

         24  all those sorts of things.

         25                 But the fact is, for example in the
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          2  one case where the father ended up killing his

          3  little girl, it was done by the book and looked

          4  exactly right.

          5                 Clearly, we all missed something, and

          6  that's why the decision turned out to be a bad

          7  decision. We missed something in that case, I think,

          8  although I'm speculating now, related to some

          9  interior rage that this man was feeling, came out

         10  later when he got into trouble himself in his life.

         11                 The second case is, I think you're

         12  right, more nuanced. The Judge made the decision,

         13  with the recommendations of everyone involved, to

         14  return the children to the mother, even though she

         15  had not perfectly met all of the requirements that

         16  one could have put upon her. That looks like a big

         17  mistake now.

         18                 However, the judge also laid out a

         19  set of things that all of us needed to pay attention

         20  to and keep on top of, which in my judgement and Ms.

         21  Chahine's wasn't done to the extent that it needed

         22  to have been done.

         23                 So, it's not that we're saying the

         24  decisions were right. They were both wrong. But I

         25  can't fault them in the final analysis, because I'm
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          2  looking back on them and I also have some sense of

          3  the 4,800 decisions that are made every year, and

          4  how you try to balance various things.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I guess for

          6  me the language is a little misleading. If you can't

          7  fault something, then it's almost like it's okay

          8  that it was done. And therefore, there's no need to

          9  review it.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Absolutely

         11  not.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what has

         13  to be reviewed is what came subsequent to it.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We certainly

         15  don't mean that. I apologize if we --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That's number

         17  one. And so then for me, it becomes a matter of, you

         18  know, we want reunification, but what do we do,

         19  agency-wise, policy-wise, to assure that this

         20  doesn't happen again in that original decision that

         21  we don't want to fault after the fact?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, again,

         23  that's right on as a question, and Ms. Chahine can

         24  answer more specifically, but what we are doing is

         25  in the coming months are dramatically beefing up
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          2  what has been called a discharge conference, but

          3  which we're going to be calling something else.

          4                 So that we routinely not only have a

          5  worker there but also have a facilitator there that

          6  everyone is brought together and everyone's concerns

          7  are heard and the shortcomings in the achievement of

          8  the plan get laid out for everyone, within 30 days

          9  before we go back into court with a recommendation.

         10                 So while we have discharge

         11  conferences now, we believe that, and are in the

         12  process of planning to, we believe that we need to

         13  beef them up, and make them more robust than they

         14  have been.

         15                 I have to tell you, I have set up

         16  these intensive family conferences elsewhere, and

         17  after them the whole group of people missed them and

         18  a child died. Nothing in this world is perfect in

         19  child welfare. But we do believe we can do better

         20  than we did at least in this one case.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And finally

         22  let me ask, so how many potential cases are out

         23  there?

         24                 In other words, you have to go back

         25  now to kind of figure out who else may have slipped
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          2  through the system that has this potential. I would

          3  think that there are potentially similar decisions

          4  that have been made that may upon review be

          5  corrected, either to change the decision or to

          6  support the decision in a way that would prevent or

          7  make it a good decision, as opposed to a no fault

          8  decision.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: There are two

         10  at least reviews getting underway now. The first

         11  involves the child protective manager in the one

         12  case, and we will be reviewing his workers cases to

         13  see if the quality of the work is representative in

         14  this one case or not.

         15                 Depending on what we see there, we

         16  also could do that for both the worker and the

         17  supervisor. Those decisions have not been made.

         18                 We are also, however, in the process

         19  of reviewing reunification decisions by both

         20  agencies that were involved in these two cases.

         21  We'll do that first by pulling a sample and then see

         22  what that tells us. If it tells us we've got a lot

         23  of problems with either of those agencies, we will

         24  dig deeper and if necessary check on all of those

         25  children.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you so

          3  much, Mr. Chair.

          4                 I don't want to overwhelm the

          5  questioning, but there's obviously some urgency to

          6  this and I would imagine some time frame type of

          7  arrangements are being made that would, you know,

          8  give us a road that we know where we're going and

          9  when we're going to get there and so forth, as far

         10  as this review process is concerned.

         11                 Do we have such that you can share

         12  with us at this point?

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  CHAHINE: We are beginning the review and we hope in

         15  the next 90 days to be able to complete the reviews

         16  that the Commissioner had mentioned of the CPN, as

         17  well as the two agencies that he also spoke about.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         19  Brewer, did you also have a question?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         22                 After Council Member Brewer I have a

         23  couple of very quick follow-ups and then we're going

         24  to turn to the clinical trials issue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I
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          2  think you know, Commissioner, that my focus is on

          3  substance abuse prevention, and so having, as Bill

          4  Perkins knows and others, spent 25 years on the

          5  Board of Veritas and so on, I think I understand

          6  what it takes to come into treatment and out of

          7  treatment as a family.

          8                 So, my question is, I know you

          9  mentioned substance abuse as one of the issues to

         10  look at, so where in this review in terms of

         11  priority is substance abuse?

         12                 I am one of these people who

         13  believes, having 30 foster care kids myself, in and

         14  out of jail with them, substance abuse, et cetera,

         15  there's nothing worse. So, the question is, why

         16  isn't it part and parcel of the discussion, because

         17  I may be wrong, but almost everybody has an abuse,

         18  substance abuse of one kind or another problem. I

         19  put money on the fact that their age comes from it.

         20  And, so, my question is, how are you integrating

         21  sort of the Veritas model into your entire agency?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Zeinab can

         23  speak to the immigration that we've done up to now,

         24  but I do want to respond that in the probably 50

         25  years of experience sitting up here at this table,
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          2  substance is the number one challenge that families

          3  face. It may not be the only one, but it is the

          4  number one. No question about that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Of course you

          7  do.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: And a great

         10  deal of work which Zeinab will summarize, has been

         11  done up to now but we have also brought in a

         12  colleague of mine from North Carolina and Ohio who

         13  has already completed a series of interviews with

         14  both our staff and OASIS staff and others around how

         15  we currently handle substance abuse-related cases.

         16  And we intend to make that as the number one issue

         17  in our child safety review as we go forward, and I

         18  think that we will all see some enhancements to that

         19  into the future.

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         21  CHAHINE: Integrating Veritas, it's a very successful

         22  model. We are very pleased with the work, the

         23  on-site Veritas team had done with the Manhattan

         24  field office, and I think part of the decision to,

         25  when we made the preventive reinvestment funds was
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          2  to actually target some of these funds to agencies

          3  for substance abuse or Casaks (phonetic) to be

          4  available especially with substance exposed cases.

          5  And so that's part of where we're going with this,

          6  is doing more with this type of co-location where we

          7  have a Casak (phonetic) to assess and to help child

          8  protective staff, or child preventive workers

          9  actually work with that.

         10                 The other program where we had more

         11  on-site clinical consultants in substance abuse, now

         12  we have 12 teams in each of the child protective

         13  offices where we have a substance abuse specialist

         14  along with the domestic violence and mental health

         15  specialist, and we're also adding a medical

         16  component. What we're attempting to do is make sure

         17  that we do a whole in-service training using those

         18  substance abuse specialists in the field offices,

         19  the same way we did with the domestic violence

         20  training, and we're revising our curriculum to focus

         21  on the safety and risk issues in assessing those

         22  types of cases and helping staff to understand the

         23  dynamics and do more ongoing, on-site kind of

         24  training and support for these staff through these

         25  consultants.
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          2                 I think we need to look at that

          3  co-location model, see how we can expand it.

          4                 We're also looking to increase, and

          5  we have done some steps toward that increasing

          6  funding towards having nurse family practitioners

          7  where we have substance exposed infants, a visit to

          8  their home, as well as early as possible.

          9                 So, our strategy is to try to do this

         10  from the earliest point to try to protect and to

         11  intervene as soon as possible, and to strengthen our

         12  capacity to understand the dynamics and to have the

         13  resources available to staff to access.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I don't want

         15  to belabor the point. Obviously it's something that

         16  I think is necessary and I hope that it could be

         17  completely integrated and perhaps a discussion for

         18  another hearing.

         19                 The other aspect I just want to

         20  mention, if, in fact, children unfortunately have to

         21  be placed elsewhere with a foster parent and an

         22  adoptive parent, I have a friend she just adopted or

         23  will adopt two hard-to-place children in the Bronx.

         24  Let me just tell you the problem.

         25                 To get the kids, and then you are
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          2  somewhat on your own to figure out what to do.

          3  Schools. There's not enough kind of

          4  cross-fertilization of information between ACS and

          5  DOE. So, I got the kids into the schools. They're

          6  hard-to-place kids. I got them in. I know who to

          7  call. But my friend didn't.

          8                 And then second is the, you know,

          9  just sort of how to know what's in a neighborhood

         10  because now you're a parent, you didn't have kids

         11  before.

         12                 I'm just saying that these are things

         13  that need more attention. I guess as a, obviously as

         14  a birth parent with challenges, and then second, as

         15  a new parent that has not had children before. I can

         16  do it with my eyes closed, but it doesn't mean that

         17  I can do it for the whole City. That's why I say you

         18  need that.

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I should

         20  mention that the after care dollars are also made

         21  available for post-adoptive services.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, but

         23  you've got to have the right person who knows the

         24  ins and outs.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,
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          2  Council member.

          3                 Okay, very quick final questions, and

          4  then over to the other topic.

          5                 On after care, if I have my facts

          6  straight, 18 million was in FY '06 budget for after

          7  care. Can you tell us at this point whether that

          8  will be guaranteed and continued in the '07 budget?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It is in the

         10  coming budget, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Same total?

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It's actually

         13  nine million City tax levy, 27 total for prevention

         14  and after care. We might readjust the percentage

         15  that goes. I don't want to say that it will be

         16  absolutely 18.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Any

         18  consideration being given to raising the total in

         19  light of all this, all that we've learned?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, to the

         21  extent that we are able to exceed our goals, we will

         22  have additional dollars to make use of for those

         23  purposes. So, we'll keep at it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         25                 Case conferences. You mentioned this.
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          2  Will the policy now be there will be a case

          3  conference before any reunification is approved?

          4                 Can you say it's a guarantee that

          5  each and every reunification decision will be

          6  preceded by a case conference?

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          8  CHAHINE: That's our intent.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you know

         10  when you will be able to actualize that?

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         12  CHAHINE: We need to take a little bit of time to

         13  plan this because we need to train everyone and make

         14  sure that it happens in every case.

         15                 So, I would say in the next six

         16  months I would hope to have it in place.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I would just

         18  urge in the spirit of getting things done that a

         19  firm deadline might move action, for what it's

         20  worth.

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  CHAHINE: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: On the dialogue

         24  with Council Member Perkins, which I thought was

         25  very important, because it points out that not

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  necessarily are either to point wrong, that the by

          3  the book decision was wrong, but obviously the

          4  outcome was wrong, so if you could do it over again

          5  you would not have reunified in those two cases, or

          6  in theory you would reunify with a whole different

          7  set of support services that don't necessarily exist

          8  at this moment, but there's another way to look at

          9  that, that if the check list, if the standards had

         10  been somewhat higher and had caused you not to

         11  reunify and these two instances, that would have

         12  been better for our society.

         13                 So, again, I think it begs the

         14  question, we're not looking for a specific answer,

         15  it begs the question, while we're doing all the

         16  other important things, and while we're trying to be

         17  supportive in the ways that I mentioned, I still

         18  think it begs the question, are there some items,

         19  are there some particular areas that in fact the

         20  standard needs to be somewhat higher in?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Just very

         22  briefly. There are areas that we are not comfortable

         23  with right now. One of them which we have already

         24  started to work on last spring is the question of

         25  the parent education, parenting training programs.
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          2  Many of them, you can sit through them and pass and

          3  get your certificate and bring it into court with

          4  you. But that doesn't really tell anyone whether

          5  you're really able to take care of this infant for

          6  example. We are putting in place, it's going to take

          7  some time, parenting programs that involve on-site,

          8  on-hands, hands-on programs that we can see and the

          9  parent can demonstrate that they are able to. So

         10  they will have the skills, not just the certificate.

         11                 Each of these situations, we're

         12  looking to enhance them and we know we have issues.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Again, I do not

         14  want to belabor. I'll just restate the point.

         15                 So, that is a helpful answer, I still

         16  think it also begs the question. So you're talking

         17  about the methodology by which you judge a standard.

         18  I still think it also begs the question is there any

         19  particular standard in itself that should be higher?

         20                 I think we all agree make the

         21  methodology as tight as possible, that's a win for

         22  everyone. But I think --

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well,

         24  actually, I'm sorry, I could have been more on

         25  target as well.
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          2                 We are indeed looking at the risk and

          3  safety assessment that is used, and we intend to

          4  make enhancements to the extend we need to and see

          5  to it that the risk and safety assessment is done at

          6  these conferences so that staff and colleagues'

          7  opinions are backed up in the safety and risk

          8  assessment.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: When do you

         10  think your new model, if you do make any changes, or

         11  your assessment, will be finished?

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We should be

         13  able to have that in place when we have the

         14  conferences all in place.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So within the

         16  next six months.

         17                 Obviously, I assure you, in one form

         18  or another there will be another oversight

         19  opportunity to speak to us, at minimum, by the time

         20  of the budget hearings in March or April.

         21                 But I think we should just put you on

         22  notice that will certainly be a question at that

         23  time where we stand on those fronts.

         24                 I think in the case of the Gillians's

         25  child, if, and I say very seriously, if the media
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          2  has any of their information correct, which is never

          3  a guarantee, the physical reality of the home was

          4  enough to send very significant warning signals, and

          5  that whatever training, whatever support was not

          6  sufficient, obviously you could see immediately that

          7  there might be responsibility questions and that

          8  could lead to negligence and that is in fact what

          9  happened.

         10                 So, again, it seems to me that if we

         11  don't set the standard higher on the front end, we

         12  also have to be aggressive about intervening along

         13  the way, and not being afraid to say something is

         14  not working. I hope our standards are going to be

         15  clear.

         16                 Lastly, I would just say, we have

         17  done amazing things with the Police Department, and

         18  some other agencies, with the COMSTAT-type model. I

         19  think you set as rigorous a tone as that one set.

         20  I've seen how you lead your agency. I would urge you

         21  actually to consider something more like that model,

         22  where every case is constantly called forward in a

         23  way that the supervisors and the caseworkers know

         24  they are personally responsible.

         25                 I imagine, if you personally, just to

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  give a vivid example, if you personally had heard

          3  some of the details of these cases, you would have

          4  caught some loose ends and some imperfections and

          5  would have demanded greater action. That's certainly

          6  why crime got turned around in New York City as much

          7  as anything, and I wonder if it isn't a model that

          8  would work here, because maybe it would give

          9  everyone a sense of just how responsible they have

         10  to be for every detail. So, I offer that to you.

         11                 Let's move to another huge and

         12  important topic in and of itself. And thank you for

         13  your indulgence and everyone's indulgence on this

         14  matter. Obviously, it was not a matter we hoped to

         15  deal with, but circumstance demanded it.

         16                 Clinical trials. I'll just preface by

         17  saying I want to give Council Member Perkins an

         18  opportunity to speak up front as well.  I'll be very

         19  quick. I just want to preface by saying I think it's

         20  clear we take this issue extremely serious. This is

         21  our second full hearing. There has been constant

         22  demands for information and correspondence and

         23  meetings with the Commissioner and his staff,

         24  members of this Committee.

         25                 We are focused on understanding
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          2  better what happened in the past and we're

          3  particularly focused to understand what it means for

          4  the future.

          5                 We learned a lot at the May 5th

          6  hearing. There's a lot more that needs to be

          7  clarified. I will say from the beginning, I believe

          8  this needs to be a respectful discourse. I believe

          9  essentially everyone in this process, from day one,

         10  going back many years, was trying to help children.

         11  I think obviously some very significant mistakes

         12  were made in terms of process, in terms of

         13  information flow, in terms of transparency. These

         14  are very real problems that undermine public

         15  confidence, and may undermine the effectiveness of

         16  the help children get, we have to make sure they

         17  don't happen in the future.

         18                 I don't think any of us is trying to

         19  dwell on the past here. From what we know so far,

         20  thank God, no child was harmed, but we don't know

         21  enough to say that definitively, and we need to know

         22  better. And the bottom line is I think we all need

         23  to respect that everyone is working here to try and

         24  find an understanding of what happened, most

         25  specifically, so that we can then have a clear,

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  delineated policy going forward that anyone and

          3  everyone in this City can understand, and that from

          4  this point on, whenever a decision is made, and

          5  hopefully with a very high bar to move forward with

          6  a clinical trial of any type, the process dynamics

          7  are pristine and the transparency and the checks and

          8  balances are clear to all.

          9                 I think that's what will engender

         10  public confidence and get back to the core point

         11  that there was a reason for these trials. If they

         12  were done properly, they obviously could provide a

         13  great service to those in need.

         14                 So, with that hopeful but critical

         15  eye, and we will demand in this and every

         16  circumstance more and more information until this

         17  process is over. I'd turn to the person again who

         18  was really responsible most for making sure that

         19  these hearings have happened, and I thank him for

         20  that, Council Member Perkins.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         22  very much, Chairman. I'm going to at this point just

         23  not make any opening remarks and just get straight

         24  to the testimony.

         25                 I think that what you've said I can
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          2  simply ditto and look forward to hearing from you,

          3  Commissioner, and having some conversation after

          4  this.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          7  Council member.

          8                 Commissioner Mattingly.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Thank you,

         10  Chair DeBlasio, and Council Member Perkins.

         11                 Once again, I'd like to reemphasize

         12  what I fumbled around with at the opening statement

         13  all together, which is that we are the agency now

         14  responsible for foster children in the community. We

         15  take that responsibility seriously, and we fully

         16  expect and respect the Council's oversight of all

         17  that has happened, even if it was 15 years ago, and

         18  HRA was involved.

         19                 We are also dedicated to making sure

         20  that how we operate tomorrow is without -- is the

         21  best way that any of us can possibly proceed. And

         22  that's, of course, our number one goal.

         23                 I'd like to also take a minute to

         24  apologize to the Council and to Council Member

         25  Perkins, especially, if anything I have said in the
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          2  past leaves anyone with the idea that we aren't

          3  deeply concerned about the fact that hundreds of

          4  foster children, many of them, most of them children

          5  of color, were involved in a publicly sanctioned

          6  clinical trial.

          7                 These issues are extremely important

          8  because of the vulnerability of these children, and

          9  because of the sad history in this country of some

         10  clinical trials.

         11                 We take that very seriously, and I

         12  apologize if anyone thinks that we don't.

         13                 So, having said that, just a few

         14  words at the outset here. Liz Roberts has joined me.

         15  She is the Director of our Child and Family Health

         16  Department who has been keeping track as best we can

         17  of the facts that we have.

         18                 After we testify, we have asked the

         19  Vera Institute of Justice to come and give detailed

         20  testimony on what they have been doing since of

         21  course in order to be as objective as we can we have

         22  stepped aside and asked this private non-profit

         23  agency to do the assessment, the investigation and

         24  the assessment of what happened ten to 15 years ago.

         25                 We also have convened an HIV and AIDS
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          2  Advisory Panel to myself on health-related issues,

          3  especially HIV and AIDS, and two members of that

          4  panel join us today as well.

          5                 With your indulgence I'd ask that

          6  they be allowed to speak with you after you.

          7                 I should also mention that the

          8  Medical Oversight Committee, you will recall Dr. Bob

          9  Johnson was here back in May, has gotten underway

         10  but Bob could not be here because he has been made

         11  dean of the Medical College in New Jersey, and today

         12  happens to be his Board meeting day. So, while we

         13  could have had him last week, we had to ask for a

         14  postponement. We can't have him today. We'll miss

         15  him, I'm sure.

         16                 The first and most important thing

         17  for us right now is the new HIV/AIDS clinical trials

         18  that we have issued and that we have shared with the

         19  Council.

         20                 I'd like to say that I think it is a

         21  strong policy statement and provides the clear

         22  direction in both policy and procedures to protect

         23  the best interest of the children who might be

         24  involved in future trials, and to respect the rights

         25  of everyone, especially the parents involved.
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          2                 The policy is still open for review

          3  and advice. If any of the panel members or staff

          4  would like to respond to any particular piece of the

          5  policy, we are open to that.

          6                 We very recently have gotten some

          7  proposed amendments from the Commissioner's HIV/AIDS

          8  Advisory Panel, and we will be integrating them, as

          9  well as we think a final bit of advice from the

         10  State.

         11                 So, while this is in place now, the

         12  safeguards are there now, we are quite willing to

         13  enhance them with advice.

         14                 I should restate that today, as was

         15  the case back in May, we have no children who are

         16  involved in any clinical trial.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm just going

         18  to stop you on that and make sure we get our facts

         19  straight. You're saying literally at this moment no

         20  child is involved in any clinical trial in which ACS

         21  is involved?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's

         23  correct.

         24                 Those children, we have I think 18 of

         25  them who have been in care for a long time, all of
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          2  the drugs that they have been receiving has since

          3  been approved, so they're not involved in a clinical

          4  trial.

          5                 Since then we have not, since 2001 we

          6  haven't had a new child put into a clinical trial.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just interrupt

          8  for the sake of clarity.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         11  Perkins.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are they

         13  still receiving treatment?

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes. Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What is their

         16  age range?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: They're by

         18  and large teenagers or in their early 20s by now.

         19  That's what I think.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

         21  continue.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Okay.

         23                 Over the past six months Children's

         24  Services has worked as diligently as we can to lay

         25  the groundwork for Vera's review.
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          2                 We believe that the first phase of

          3  the work, the ramp-up of Vera's review, has now been

          4  completed.

          5                 No one, as I'm sure you can imagine,

          6  is more anxious than I am for us to get all of the

          7  facts out as soon as we possibly can, but we also

          8  have to work to balance the public's interest in

          9  obtaining timely information with the integrity of

         10  this investigation, and as you will hear, while much

         11  work has been done, we need to continue forward in

         12  order to complete the review.

         13                 Having said that, I think that I'll

         14  leave this open for further discussion and

         15  questions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         17  Perkins.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Just some

         19  quick questions.

         20                 In May it was indicated that ACS had

         21  evidence of 465 children who participated in the

         22  trials. Has this number changed? What is the new

         23  number, if it has? If not, are you know confident

         24  that this represents the total number of children

         25  who have participated?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: At

          3  this time we have identified approximately 465

          4  children who were enrolled, or who we now believe

          5  were enrolled in clinical trials at some point.

          6                 We are continuing to search foster

          7  care agency medical records and our own files to

          8  make sure that we have identified every child, and

          9  if any additional children are identified, we will

         10  make that information public and we'll provide the

         11  names of those children to the Vera Institute so

         12  they can be included in the review that's underway.

         13  But to date we have not found additional children

         14  beyond the 465 we spoke about in the spring.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have we

         16  determined the number of children that may have died

         17  in the course of these trials?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We

         19  have looked at the information that is in our system

         20  of record regarding how each of these children left

         21  care, and it's my understanding that the Vera

         22  Institute is prepared today to give you some details

         23  on that information and I think it makes sense for

         24  them to provide the details because they are

         25  responsible for the analysis and the child-specific
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          2  review going forward.

          3                 It doesn't exactly answer your

          4  question. We don't know of any child who died as a

          5  result of their participation in a clinical trial.

          6                 We know that in the eighties and

          7  nineties many children who were HIV positive or had

          8  AIDS did die, both in foster care and out of foster

          9  care, and the Vera Review will take a careful look

         10  at the children's case records and medical records

         11  and try to make sense of their history and whether

         12  the medications that they were on perhaps extended

         13  their lives or perhaps compromised their health in

         14  some way and they'll be able to report on all of

         15  that. But you have to look at the medical records to

         16  answer those questions.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But Vera will

         18  be reporting on that today you think?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS:

         20  They'll be able to report on the discharge

         21  information about the children who were in care.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         23                 But so I'm clear, but right now you

         24  don't know if any died in the course of the care, as

         25  related to the trials?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I

          3  don't know of any case where a child died and that

          4  death was attributed to their being in a clinical

          5  trial. But without reading the medical records, I

          6  can't answer that question one way or the other, and

          7  even when Vera reads the medical records, it's going

          8  to be a lot to sort out.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It's possible

         10  to make that determination, I mean medically

         11  speaking? Is that something that can be determined?

         12                 Can it be determined that a trial was

         13  the cause of death?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I

         15  think there are occasions where you might be able to

         16  say this medication caused an allergic reaction or

         17  this medication clearly compromised the child's

         18  health in some way. There also will be occasions

         19  where they can say this medication seems to have

         20  extended the child's life, because, you know, we can

         21  tell from the strength of their immune system that

         22  they made progress while they were on the

         23  medication.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: As we would

         25  keep records on those instances when the medication
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          2  extended life, helped, would we not also keep

          3  records in those instances where the medication

          4  created an allergic reaction or did not work

          5  successfully for the child?

          6                 You understand what I'm saying? I

          7  hear the readiness to talk about how was this

          8  helpful, but I think it's also important to know if

          9  we kept records in those instances when it wasn't so

         10  helpful.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Council

         12  member, the records will be the same medical

         13  records.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We just

         16  aren't certain that they will in every case either

         17  way indicate the cause of illness or death.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: One of the

         19  concerns that has come up is how you determine

         20  whether or not a child is in need of a medication.

         21  Just to give you some sense of how, sometimes it

         22  comes up, the symptoms of one might automatically

         23  assume were symptoms in which the child had the

         24  need, sometimes the symptoms are something else; you

         25  understand what I'm trying to say?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I

          3  think so.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How do you

          5  determine which is, when such symptoms require the

          6  medication or the trial, versus some other kind of

          7  medication; how is that distinguished?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I

          9  think really since I'm not an MD, I'm not the best

         10  person to answer that question. I know that the

         11  practice evolved over the 18 years that we're

         12  talking about and the ability to look at the extent

         13  of HIV infection in the body, the ways that it was

         14  compromising the immune system, all of that became

         15  more and more sophisticated over time, and so in

         16  each clinical trial, based on the standard of care

         17  at the time, criteria were set to ensure that a

         18  child wouldn't be enrolled in that clinical trial,

         19  unless it was appropriate and needed for them.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Vera would be

         21  able to determine those instances where such trials

         22  were not appropriate.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: As I

         24  understand it, they will look at what the standard

         25  of care was at the time, and what the criteria were
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          2  for enrollment in the trial, and they'll make an

          3  assessment, assuming there's enough information in

          4  the medical record to do so, of whether the decision

          5  was reasonable and was based on the best medical

          6  knowledge at that time.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Of the

          8  clinical trials in which children in foster care

          9  participated, have you now determined which, if any,

         10  involved medications that were later found

         11  ineffective or disapproved for use in children?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We

         13  have looked at a total of 18 medications that were

         14  used in the clinical trials that we know of to date,

         15  and all of those 18 medications were approved by the

         16  FDA, in some cases prior to the trial, in some cases

         17  at a later date, all were approved, and all were

         18  approved for children.

         19                 We can't be sure that we have

         20  captured every clinical trial or every medication

         21  until Vera completes their review, but to date we

         22  haven't found any that were not approved.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what has

         24  your investigation revealed about the appointment of

         25  independent advocates for foster children who were

                                                            70

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  involved in the trial?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Much

          4  of that will need to be explored further by Vera.

          5                 The independent advocates were

          6  appointed by the hospitals, were typically employed

          7  by the hospitals. As they talked to staff from the

          8  Institutional Review Boards and staff were involved

          9  in the research, as they look at records they will

         10  find out much more about how independent advocates

         11  were used, how many cases they were involved in,

         12  what role they played in those cases, so that we

         13  really need to wait to hear more from them.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Council

         15  member, if I could follow-up on that?

         16                 No, I'm sorry. Go ahead.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You could

         18  follow-up. I guess I'm just -- what role did you

         19  play, did the agency play? Everything is now Vera.

         20  It's almost as if the first time anybody is looking

         21  at this.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's where

         23  I was headed, yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It's as if

         25  you just started looking at this, it seems kind of
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          2  counter-intuitive considering --

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We don't know

          4  the case-related information, unless it happened to

          5  be in our files, and often times it was not. But we

          6  do know that our contract called for every child to

          7  have an independent advocate.

          8                 We also know from general reports

          9  that some of the hospitals following, they believed,

         10  the lead of NIH, had said that there were only two

         11  very strong reasons why an independent advocate

         12  would be required for these children.

         13                 I did want to point out, though, that

         14  no matter what happens, no matter what the NIH says,

         15  henceforth, no child will be enrolled in any

         16  clinical trials, as part of our policy now, without

         17  an independent advocate.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And how would

         19  your independent advocates be chosen?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, they

         21  are still a function of the medical providers. The

         22  hospital would provide an independent advocate.

         23                 There are, as you may see in the new

         24  policy, there are many other protections for the

         25  children and the families involved in when foster

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  children are involved, but the independent advocate

          3  will still be, the expectation will be that the

          4  medical provider provides the independent advocate.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: With respect

          6  to Vera, what is their time line for completion?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: They

          8  are currently projecting that they will complete the

          9  project in about 18 months from now. What they have

         10  found as they have gotten deeper into it is that the

         11  volume of information, the volume of records, the

         12  number of people that need to be interviewed to

         13  really give a complete and credible accounting

         14  requires that it take about that length of time.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And how does

         16  this compare to the original anticipated schedule?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We

         18  were originally hoping that they could complete the

         19  whole project, starting in the summer in a year and

         20  a half, and they've come back to us and said that

         21  now that they better understand what needs to be

         22  done, it's going to take a little longer than that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, it's

         24  twice as long?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Not
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          2  exactly.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It's another

          4  18 months you said?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: From

          6  now.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: From now.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS:

          9  They've been working on the project for about six

         10  months at this time.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Two years

         12  instead of six months.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I

         14  don't think we ever said six months.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, okay. I'm

         16  just trying to clear --

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: If I

         18  was unclear, I apologize.

         19                 We originally hoped that it could be

         20  done in about 18 months from last spring, and it's

         21  looking more like two years total. The time frame

         22  may have to be revisited as we go forward.

         23                 But what I can tell you is they've

         24  been working very, very hard. They've been very

         25  diligent.
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          2                 We have been working very hard to

          3  make sure that all of the information that they need

          4  to do this credibly and thoroughly is available to

          5  them. So, if it's taking longer, it's because

          6  they're trying to do the job right, not because

          7  there hasn't been a really diligent and aggressive

          8  effort to get it done.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Mr. Chairman,

         10  you can take over now. I'll come back for a second

         11  round, if you're ready.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         13  Council Member.

         14                 I just have a couple of immediate

         15  questions. Then we're going to come back to you if

         16  you have any follow-up.

         17                 Okay, so, I'm going to just reiterate

         18  what I heard.

         19                 We started with an assumption that

         20  this process, the investigation process would take

         21  about 18 months. We're now adding effectively six

         22  months to the total, because of what's happened in

         23  practice. Am I saying it right so far?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, from day
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          2  one to outcome will be almost two years, as of what

          3  we know at this moment.

          4                 We believe the number of children who

          5  are involved is the current number you're stating,

          6  the 460 --

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Five

          8  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: 465.

         10                 Since our last hearing you have not

         11  found new cases. You are not ruling out there still

         12  may be some to be found, but at least it is, I will

         13  editorialize, encouraging that now over six or seven

         14  months there has not been any information to suggest

         15  more cases. I don't need to tell you that the time

         16  the moment in our history when the number of cases

         17  lurched forward was a moment where people had some

         18  faith problems with what's going on here, and I

         19  think it's crucial that that, you know, Roulette

         20  Wheel stop turning. It sounds like maybe we're at

         21  that point. Would you care to comment?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Just to

         23  provide a bit more information.

         24                 All the files that we have found at

         25  ACS and that we have gotten from the contract
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          2  agencies, foster care agencies, who cared for these

          3  children have not changed this number. But that's

          4  not enough, we don't think.

          5                 We are now going back and getting the

          6  computerized records of all the children who were in

          7  care, and trying to find out which ones of those

          8  either had special medical needs, were HIV positive,

          9  and we will then go and try to find those records

         10  just to complete the loop.

         11                 So, we are not in a position to say

         12  465 is it, until we do that, and that's a major

         13  undertaking. We're just getting underway.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In terms of

         15  outcomes for children, have we found any evidence as

         16  of this moment of any harm having been done to one

         17  of the children in the programs as a result of the

         18  clinical trials?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We

         20  have not looked at the medical records except for a

         21  very small handful of children.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Even with a

         23  small handful.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I

         25  think that these were powerful medications, all of
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          2  them come with side effects, all of them come with

          3  some risks. And, so, I would expect that there will

          4  be children who had side effects, some more mild,

          5  some more serious. I wouldn't want to say anything

          6  here that implies that that's not the case.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I would not ask

          8  you to sort of go ahead of the facts and the truth.

          9  I don't want to ask you to do that. I guess I'm

         10  saying, I'm asking the questions I think on the

         11  minds of a lot of people, you know, is the number

         12  final? When will this process be completed? Was

         13  anyone hurt? We agree that the information flow was

         14  deeply flawed. We agree the approval processes and

         15  the checks and balances were flawed. Present company

         16  was not involved in any of that.

         17                 The real question now is the

         18  outcomes.

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The brief

         20  answer is we have no evidence so far that any child

         21  was hurt by the clinical trials.

         22                 On the other hand, we do know that

         23  each one of the drugs we are aware of as having been

         24  part of the trials has since been approved. Those

         25  are the two things we know, but there is much we
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          2  don't.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And we can't

          4  say definitively on the positive side how much each

          5  child was helped either.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          8                 Is that something, we don't mean to

          9  bemoan, I mean it's a state of fact, is that

         10  something we have to wait 18 months to get the

         11  answers on? Or is that something that we will learn

         12  along the way?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, I think

         14  Vera is the best answerer for that question, because

         15  they're the ones who are going to have to pull this

         16  off one way or the other.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right.

         18                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I should

         19  remark why Vera is in this. They're in this because

         20  we felt the need to step back and because we are the

         21  successor agency of HRA, to have a private

         22  non-profit agency, which has great respect in New

         23  York City, to come in and do this the way it should

         24  be done, get it right the first time, and that's why

         25  they are in this with us.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The part that

          3  is pertinent to you, to say the least, and we'll

          4  bring Vera right up in a moment, but is is there

          5  going to be a feedback loop, if you will, in which

          6  as information is verified by Vera, that could have

          7  an active impact on the policies and practices of

          8  ACS, that it will not wait 18 months to be

          9  disseminated and acted upon, but it's an ongoing

         10  interactive process?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: It is

         12  certainly our desire. I'm very anxious to get

         13  whatever facts out that we can for obvious reasons.

         14  But on the other hand, in fact, the way we've

         15  written the contract cannot tell them what to do.

         16  They have to make judgments about accuracy and what

         17  they can and can't release. But I sure would like

         18  them to release whatever they can as soon as they

         19  can.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What is your

         21  methodology if you got a call that there's clear

         22  information that they'd like to review? What's your

         23  methodology in ensuring it ends up in your

         24  decision-making structure for action?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I
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          2  think there are a couple of mechanisms in place. One

          3  is that I, and members of my staff, are having

          4  regular conversations with Vera.

          5                 Up until now those conversations have

          6  primarily been focused on helping them get what they

          7  need so they can get the job done and get it done

          8  quickly.

          9                 Going forward, I anticipate they'll

         10  bring information back to us that would inform our

         11  practice going forward, give us a sense of what

         12  they're finding, as they get out there and look at

         13  medical records and case records.

         14                 The other thing I want to stress is

         15  that the Medical Oversight Committee and the

         16  HIV/AIDS Advisory Panel that the Commissioner has

         17  established, will have access to Vera, will be

         18  meeting regularly with Vera and with members of the

         19  ACS staff. And, so, again, as information emerges

         20  that may inform the process, that will be shared

         21  with those folks and they'll be able to advise us on

         22  how we should integrate it into what we're doing.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Even as you're

         24  waiting for this information, I'm trying to

         25  differentiate a couple more questions for you and

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  then we'll bring Vera up, because I think a lot of

          3  our questions really are pertinent to them in

          4  particular.

          5                 Even as you're going through this

          6  process of getting all information through Vera

          7  Investigation and waiting for the final product and

          8  acting on that which you get, can you say very

          9  specifically when you expect in your own right to

         10  have a new policy on clinical trials? Can you tell

         11  us how it will be publicly disseminated so that

         12  there can be a fresh start in which the public

         13  understands this policy from the beginning? Can you

         14  give us any definitive items that you know will be a

         15  part of that policy?

         16                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure. The

         17  policy that we have provided you, the latest

         18  iteration, is very much like the final draft will

         19  be. There's a few emendations that we'll make based

         20  on the Commissioner's Advisory Panel. The State has

         21  given us I think one, maybe two more ideas, so we're

         22  very close to finalizing it. And we'll make it

         23  public, in whatever ways works best. Perhaps on

         24  websites, certainly we'll send it again to the

         25  Council, but it will be a public document.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Can you give us

          3  a sense of time line?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I would be

          5  surprised if we can't do this before February 1st.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, by February

          7  1st there will be a public document delineating the

          8  future ongoing policy for approval of clinical

          9  trials for determination of how any individual child

         10  would end up in the clinical trial, checks and

         11  balances, sign-offs, parent participation, et

         12  cetera. Obviously the Council would have the

         13  opportunity at that point to do immediate hearings

         14  as one effort to ensure public input and concern.

         15  Are you seeking any other type of input on your own

         16  side?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: From

         18  a wide variety of stakeholders. We've brought the

         19  policy to, originally the formulation of the policy

         20  was done after a series of focus groups with health

         21  care providers, social workers, advocates, parents

         22  of HIV positive children, foster parents, who gave

         23  us advice about what they thought would be workable

         24  and would be in the best interests of children.

         25                 The draft policy has been circulated,
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          2  so all of our contract foster care agencies, it's

          3  been shared and discussed with the medical and

          4  mental health directors from those agencies, it's

          5  been shared and discussed extensively with members

          6  of the HIV/AIDS Health Care Advisory Panel, with the

          7  Medical Oversight Committee. So, it's really been

          8  the Health Department, the State and City Health

          9  Departments and the State Office of Children and

         10  Family Services.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Members of the

         12  HIV Health Advisory Committee, and I don't know who

         13  is ultimately, because of the timing, going to be

         14  here, but three prominent members, the Debra

         15  Fraser-Howze, Ann Oliveri and Gail Nayowith, were

         16  all well known to Council Member Perkins and I and

         17  this Committee and this Council.

         18                 Is it a fair statement, or is it too

         19  broad a statement to say that the advisory committee

         20  is signing off on this policy?

         21                 Is it advising, or does it have some

         22  kind of formal kind of sign off?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I probably

         24  should answer that. I can't walk away from

         25  ultimately my responsibility to say this is the
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          2  public's document, again, only publicly however. But

          3  you can expect we will be taking the advice of the

          4  panel.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I don't need to

          6  tell you that, and, again, I don't mean to be

          7  melodramatic but I think it's a statement of fact,

          8  and we might as well put it on the table. The

          9  endorsement of those three individuals would be more

         10  powerful than possibly anything I could think of in

         11  terms of validating this policy to the Council and

         12  to the public at large.

         13                 Let me simply end, I know Council

         14  Member Perkins may have some additional questions

         15  here, but just for my part, don't take this the

         16  wrong way because it's certainly not intended in any

         17  negative way, and we're in a positive season and we

         18  appreciate everything you've done.

         19                 It's been an interesting path on this

         20  issue, I just want to make a general disclaimer

         21  point that we have asked ACS and the Administration

         22  in general for information related to clinical

         23  trials now for well over two years, 18 months?

         24  Eighteen months, going back to the time of your

         25  predecessor. We have received letters, we have
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          2  received testimony, reports, et cetera. If at any

          3  point any information that was formerly provided to

          4  this Committee proves to be, from your estimation,

          5  inaccurate, we need a formal recognition of that, a

          6  clarification and a statement of what was inaccurate

          7  and what in fact the truth is. I think that's

          8  something in our oversight role we have to insist

          9  on, again, given some of the vagaries we have

         10  experienced here, and no comment on anyone's

         11  integrity, but I just want to make that statement

         12  that that's very important to us, if anything is

         13  found to have been previously inaccurate, that would

         14  be clarified in writing to us.

         15                 Council Member Perkins.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: First, you

         17  know, you opened up, Commissioner, with an apology

         18  or a clarification of some earlier dialogue we may

         19  have had, and I just want to acknowledge that and

         20  appreciate, and express my appreciation, and would

         21  hope that you take our and my interests in the same

         22  vain. That clearly, this is a major, major concern,

         23  and there is no way I can imagine coming out of this

         24  smelling sweet.

         25                 This is one of those situations in
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          2  which something went wrong, something seriously went

          3  wrong, well-intentioned that it may have been, and

          4  even having done, I would dare say, some great good.

          5  But nevertheless, something went wrong, and we have

          6  to find out what went wrong, where it went wrong,

          7  why it went wrong, you know. This is a

          8  fingerpointing situation, unfortunately, but it's

          9  part of the privilege of doing the work that we do.

         10  At times fingers get pointed and we have to accept

         11  that fact, and we can't duck it. We can't sugarcoat

         12  it. We can't, you know, not face it. You know,

         13  especially from the perspective of credibility. We

         14  all have to be credible to the community, and right

         15  now this is holding back, this is one of the things

         16  that's holding back our work of establishing

         17  credibility, yours from the Administration side,

         18  ours from the elected official side.

         19                 So, I just want to make sure that

         20  we're very clear about, that I don't expect a report

         21  that says, hey, guess what? Everything really worked

         22  out okay. I'm sorry that's the reality that we're

         23  facing.

         24                 But I think I would rather have the

         25  truth come out, without you having to duck and dodge
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          2  and feel too defensive, as opposed to, you know,

          3  sugarcoating it.

          4                 I think there are some policy issues

          5  here, there are some administrative issues here,

          6  there's some transparency issues, there's

          7  accountability issues, all of which, if we deal with

          8  it properly, are going to help us move forward.

          9                 I want us to take it in that spirit,

         10  because I get through these dialogues, through these

         11  meetings, you know, a different kind of feeling, and

         12  I want us to, you know, just face the reality of

         13  what we're up against, because we have to get

         14  through it.

         15                 So, I just wanted to put that out

         16  there, because I know that this is going to take a

         17  little longer, and it's going to be more torturous

         18  than perhaps we want to face. But I would hope that

         19  we have, I believe we have the responsibility and

         20  the ability to deal with that.

         21                 So, you're assuring us again that

         22  this is going to be an open book that when the

         23  finger points in your direction, that you'll accept

         24  that?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Absolutely.
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          2  It's essential for our trust in the communities we

          3  serve that we be open and straightforward about the

          4  findings.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And as far as

          6  the Veritas is concerned -- not Veritas, Vera

          7  Institute is concerned, you know, you have some

          8  answers and then you say, well, we have to wait for

          9  Vera Institute to answer that. It kind of puts me

         10  into the frame of selective short, you know, you're

         11  being selective, you know, you're being selective as

         12  to what, you know, you can be definitive about, when

         13  it's easier to be -- you understand what I'm saying?

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You can say

         16  we have no evidence of any child dying or any child

         17  being hurt, but we do have evidence of, you know,

         18  good things happening, but Vera Institute will have

         19  to answer that. So, I'm a little concerned about

         20  those, because I'm afraid that what happens when

         21  they contradict you? When the report comes out,

         22  you're making statements for the record, and they

         23  may find you wrong.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure. That,

         25  again, is an excellent question. I'm glad you
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          2  offered us the opportunity to speak to it. We cannot

          3  be definitive about much of anything at this point.

          4  I hope we haven't tried to say that we are, that we

          5  have reached definitive answers. There's much that

          6  needs --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, you can

          8  be definitive if you know.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: If we know,

         10  that's right. That's because we don't know.

         11                 For example, and I hope, this really

         12  I think cuts right to the heart of the issue that

         13  you're raising, if I knew that something good or bad

         14  was definitively straight, there it is, you would

         15  have heard it already. I have no particular interest

         16  in defending three Administrations ago, even know

         17  they were people of good faith. I think the public

         18  has a right to know that.

         19                 What we are struggling with, and

         20  you've seen the struggle with us, is that we have

         21  some information, but if we say that's it, let's say

         22  with the number with the specific trials, we'll find

         23  another child soon that was in a trial we haven't

         24  listed and then Council will appropriately say to us

         25  what's going on.
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          2                 Now, we've provided you with a list

          3  of trials that we're certain children were in up to

          4  now, but much of this has to be dug into in those

          5  files for us as a community to know this is it.

          6                 I can tell you what I know, but I

          7  can't say much of anything definitive.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         10  much, Council Member.

         11                 I think we can conclude with you and

         12  your team, Commissioner.

         13                 We thank you for always making

         14  yourself available. I've said many times I don't

         15  doubt for a moment your commitment and the effective

         16  things you're doing to help kids in the City, and

         17  I'm glad that we are, and I think this is something

         18  Council Member Perkins called for and envisioned

         19  long ago, we're finally getting to the point of

         20  dialogue and investigation that, you know, will help

         21  people restore their faith and move forward, and

         22  you've made yourself constantly available, as has

         23  your team and I thank you for that.

         24                 I wish everyone at ACS happy

         25  holidays, because not only we're all friends, but
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          2  also because of the work you do that is so

          3  important. I would urge, however, we do everything

          4  conceivable to speed this process and get this

          5  information out in the light, you know, the public

          6  is waiting, and every day we can do it more quickly,

          7  the better off we'll be.

          8                 Thank you. Thank you to you and your

          9  team.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Thank you.

         11                 I should also mention that the truth

         12  serum you've put in the water here still tastes bad,

         13  so...

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Works every

         15  time.

         16                 I'd like to call up now the folks

         17  from the Vera Institute for Justice. Michael

         18  Jacobson and Tim Ross. Thank you for your patience.

         19                 Please identify yourselves, and we

         20  welcome your testimony.

         21                 MR. JACOBSON: I'm Michael Jacobson,

         22  the Director of the Vera Institute. To my immediate

         23  right is Dr. Anne Lifflander, the senior researcher

         24  on this project, a medical doctor and researcher,

         25  and --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me

          3  apologize to Dr. Lifflander, who I know from the

          4  past and think very highly of. I apologize. I didn't

          5  realize you'd be on the panel as well. Welcome.

          6                 DR. LIFFLANDER: Great to see you

          7  again.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Good to see

          9  you.

         10                 MR. JACOBSON: And to my far right is

         11  Dr. Tim Ross, who is leading the research on this

         12  effort.

         13                 I thought what we'd do is I would

         14  make a quick statement, and then obviously just be

         15  available for questions.

         16                 Mr. Chair and members of the General

         17  Welfare Committee, thank you for the opportunity to

         18  testify today. I want to make three points in my

         19  testimony. First one that puts our work in some

         20  historical context, in that AIDS has caused

         21  tremendous damage, especially in communities of

         22  color.

         23                 Second, that how children in foster

         24  care were enrolled and monitored in clinical trials

         25  in New York and how these kids are today is a
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          2  tremendously important issue to the people of the

          3  City, and nationally as well.

          4                 Third, that Vera intends to do a

          5  thorough and rigorous job, but to get the answers we

          6  all want will take some time.

          7                 AIDS is a horrible disease that has

          8  caused incalculable harm, especially in communities

          9  of color.

         10                 The Centers for Disease Control

         11  estimate that over half a million people in the US

         12  died of AIDS since the start of the epidemic,

         13  including over 5,000 children. More Americans have

         14  died of AIDS in the United States than died in

         15  battles in World War I, World War II, Korea, Vietnam

         16  and Gulf Wars combined. The disease has taken an

         17  especially harsh toll on New Yorkers. Almost 20

         18  percent of the people who died of AIDS, 100,000

         19  people, lived in New York State, and most of those

         20  lived in New York City. Over 70,000 New Yorkers are

         21  living with HIV today. Worldwide, the World Health

         22  Organization estimates that over 3 million people

         23  died from AIDS last year. The damage done by this

         24  illness is incalculable.

         25                 AIDS has had enormous and
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          2  disproportionate impact on communities of color. In

          3  United States, two-thirds of AIDS diagnoses since

          4  the epidemic began have been in people of color.

          5                 In New York, the rate of HIV

          6  infection in 2004 for people of Hispanic origin was

          7  almost seven times that of whites and for

          8  African-Americans almost 11 times the rate of

          9  infection for whites.

         10                 Fifty-seven percent of people who

         11  have died of AIDS in the US have been people of

         12  color with African-Americans accounting for 38

         13  percent of all deaths.

         14                 In communities of color hit the

         15  hardest by AIDS in our City, the rates of infection

         16  and the frequency of death are even higher and more

         17  devastating.

         18                 HIV infection in a child is an

         19  especially heartbreaking event because most HIV

         20  positive children become infected because their

         21  mother is HIV positive. Children with HIV must deal

         22  with both their own disease and out of the parent or

         23  parents. In the worst cases, AIDS has killed

         24  multiple members of the same family. Pediatric HIV

         25  infection has hit New York City particularly hard
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          2  for 3,812 children under the age of 13 diagnosed

          3  with HIV infection as of June 2004. Thirty-seven

          4  percent of those children have died.

          5                 The onset of the AIDS epidemic

          6  resulted in a massive investment in research in the

          7  1980s and 1990s. In the past year alone, the

          8  National Institute of Health spent close to $3

          9  billion on AIDS research and the cumulative

         10  investment is many times that number.

         11                 Over the past several years,

         12  transmission of HIV children has dropped

         13  dramatically and children infected with HIV are

         14  living longer lives.

         15                 Despite these gains, however, AIDS

         16  continues to take a tremendous toll.

         17                 Attention in many quarters, including

         18  advocates, the media, agencies responsible for

         19  monitoring trials, ACS's Commissioner and staff, is

         20  focused on the process for enrolling and monitoring

         21  HIV positive and exposed foster children into

         22  clinical trials which tested treatment for these

         23  conditions.

         24                 Over the past two years, many

         25  concerns have been voiced about the enrollment and
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          2  monitoring of foster children, the clinical research

          3  that tested treatments for HIV and AIDS. Some

          4  community advocates and members of the media have

          5  leveled serious allegations about the conduct of

          6  this research. These allegations include forced

          7  participation of HIV positive foster children and

          8  clinical trials, a lack of informed consent by the

          9  biological parents of foster children, suggestions

         10  that children's services benefitted financially from

         11  enrolling children in clinical trials, a failure to

         12  monitor children in foster care while they were in

         13  the trials, and that children in care were

         14  disproportionately enrolled in clinical trials and

         15  were used effectively as Guinea Pigs. These are

         16  tremendously serious allegations.

         17                 The response to these allegations has

         18  come from a variety of quarters. The doctors and

         19  medical researchers who led the trials claim that

         20  the allegations are false and that they worked hard

         21  to save the lives of HIV positive children,

         22  including foster children.

         23                 Children's Services has said that

         24  efforts on the part of former officials help foster

         25  children gain access to otherwise unavailable
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          2  medications and that they have no evidence of

          3  wrongdoing with respect to the trials.

          4                 This debate largely has taken place

          5  without the benefits of information that could

          6  advance public understanding of what happened during

          7  the period in question, and lay the groundwork for

          8  developing fair and just policies in the future.

          9                 The public does not yet know how many

         10  biological parents of the foster children signed

         11  informed consent for their children to enter

         12  clinical trials, and under what circumstances they

         13  gave consent.

         14                 What the monitoring of the foster

         15  care children look like in practice, how long these

         16  children stayed in foster care, and where they went

         17  after they were discharged from care.

         18                 This is the kind of gritty detailed

         19  research into government systems that Vera has done

         20  for the last 44 years.

         21                 We have a long history of reviewing

         22  case files, analyzing administrative data,

         23  conducting interviews with vulnerable populations,

         24  including vulnerable populations from communities of

         25  color and writing reports to inform public debate.
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          2                 Vera will address these concerns by

          3  conducting an extensive and thorough analysis of

          4  case records, administrative data, background

          5  materials, and interviews with people involved in

          6  this issue.

          7                 What Vera will provide to the public,

          8  to the City Council, to the advocacy community, to

          9  child welfare officials and to the medical community

         10  is a report containing the facts and knowledge that

         11  we will gain by reviewing case files, examining

         12  clinical trial protocols, reading published and

         13  unpublished research, analyzing administrative data

         14  and conducting interviews.

         15                 It is our goal to produce a report

         16  that spells out what happened, identifies past

         17  problems, and informs future policies.

         18                 In its simplest form we will identify

         19  what the policy was for enrolling and monitoring

         20  children in clinical trials, find out how closely

         21  that policy was followed, and discover how the

         22  children are doing today.

         23                 The issues involved in this project,

         24  however, are anything but simple. To properly

         25  fulfill our duty, we will need to answer a number of
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          2  critical questions, including what was the

          3  historical, social and scientific context in which

          4  clinical trials of drugs to treat children with HIV

          5  infection and AIDS were conducted between 1988 and

          6  2001.

          7                 How did the development,

          8  dissemination and enforcement of policies and

          9  practices related to HIV infected and exposed foster

         10  children, including child welfare placement, medical

         11  care, enrollment in clinical trials and monitoring

         12  during participation in clinical trials take place

         13  in New York City?

         14                 What were the immediate outcomes of

         15  the participation of foster children in clinical

         16  trials, including the scientific outcomes of the

         17  trials and the clinical and child welfare status of

         18  the children before, during and after enrollment.

         19                 What are the long-term outcomes of

         20  the participation of foster children in clinical

         21  trials, and the clinical and child welfare status of

         22  the children today?

         23                 Answering these questions require

         24  that we consider the impact of race and ethnicity on

         25  the questions that we ask and how we interpret the
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          2  facts that we uncover. There are many studies that

          3  show that race and ethnicity have a persistent

          4  effect on decisions that are made in child welfare

          5  systems.

          6                 There is also substantial literature

          7  on how a person's race and ethnicity influence their

          8  medical treatment, their access to care, and on the

          9  assumptions doctors make and their patients'

         10  likelihood of taking medications.

         11                 To ensure that we have a range of

         12  prospectives, the study will have the benefit of

         13  three advisory groups. First, Vera has its own

         14  advisory group, led by Dr. Richard Dudley, a Vera

         15  Board member.

         16                 Dr. Dudley is a child psychiatrist

         17  and child welfare specialist, and was a founding

         18  member of the National Black Leadership Commission

         19  on AIDS.

         20                 Second, we have met with and continue

         21  to meet with the Children's Services, HIV and AIDS

         22  Health Care Advisory Board, chaired by Debra

         23  Fraser-Howze of the National Black Leadership

         24  Commission on AIDS.

         25                 Third, Children's Services has
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          2  appointed a Medical Oversight Committee chaired by

          3  Dr. Robert Johnson of the University of Medicine and

          4  Dentistry of New Jersey. We are actively working on

          5  this analysis but it will take time to do a thorough

          6  job that the study demands.

          7                 This is a complex and complicated

          8  project. We have done a tremendous amount of work

          9  but there is a huge amount of work left to do.

         10                 Let me summarize some of the main

         11  points here.

         12                 Vera received this contract for this

         13  work in June 28th, 2005, was registered by the

         14  Comptroller's Office in late August. And after

         15  detailed discussions with the New York State Office

         16  of Family and Children's Services, the

         17  Administration for Children's Services received

         18  permission to have Vera conduct a management review

         19  of its files on September 8th.

         20                 Since then we have worked on a

         21  research protocol for Vera's Institutional Review

         22  Board which reviews our research project to make

         23  sure that they comply with federal regulations

         24  regarding the ethical treatment of human subjects.

         25                 To design this protocol, we have
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          2  reviewed a sample of ACS case files, files at the

          3  private agency that provide foster care, records

          4  from the Pediatric AIDS Unit at ACS and the

          5  electronic administrative data from the Child Care

          6  Review Service database.

          7                 We have reviewed some of the policy

          8  documents relating to the HIV testing and

          9  development of clinical trials policy.

         10                 We have also met with a wide range of

         11  people in groups, recruited most of our advisory

         12  board and hired staff. We have reviewed an extensive

         13  bibliography of reports published in Peer Review

         14  Medical Journals on the outcomes of clinical trials.

         15  We have read material that discuss the development

         16  and spread of AIDS in the black community, how race

         17  affects decision-making and child welfare, and the

         18  experience of people of color in the medical system.

         19                 The bottom line is that it will take

         20  time to do this project correctly. There are

         21  thousands of documents that will need to be

         22  reviewed, there are potentially hundreds of

         23  interviews to conduct. All of it must be done with

         24  the utmost care and sensitivity to the children who

         25  participated in these trials.
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          2                 We are acutely aware that we get only

          3  one chance to do this, and we intend to do it

          4  properly.

          5                 Along with Tim Ross, Anne Lifflander,

          6  I'm happy to answer any questions you may have.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Council Member Perkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair. Thank you for your testimony. I

         13  understand that the time frame in which you

         14  originally thought you were going to be able to

         15  complete your work has been extended?

         16                 MR. JACOBSON: Correct. By about six

         17  months.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: By six

         19  months.

         20                 Can you share with us how that

         21  happened?

         22                 MR. JACOBSON: There are a few

         23  reasons. I mean, some of them were just process

         24  reasons. It took awhile just to do the contract

         25  itself. It's a very unusual contract that we were
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          2  asking the City to do, not only because it's a

          3  complicated project but because we wanted it to

          4  reflect this as best a contract could, as a

          5  completely independent endeavor on our part. So,

          6  it's a very unusual contract and we have much, much

          7  more independence from oversight, from decisions

          8  from our contracting entity than probably -- I was

          9  in City government a long time, I've never quite

         10  seen another contract like this.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Give me an

         12  example of how independent you are.

         13                 MR. JACOBSON: Well, first of all, the

         14  biggest example is that this is not a report to ACS.

         15  This is a public report. We do not need ACS's

         16  permission to do any part of the study. They're free

         17  to give us guidance and information. They can't

         18  change anything we do. We can pick our own

         19  consultants, we can set up our own advisory board.

         20  We can essentially make all the meaningful decisions

         21  we need to make.

         22                 We can make, I think for a contract

         23  like that, it's as good a contract as you can get.

         24  The other pieces that lengthen the time, first,

         25  we're just getting all the research protocols in
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          2  order, getting the contract itself, obviously

          3  reviewed and registered, getting all the permissions

          4  that we need to see these files, and then when we

          5  start to examine the files themselves, because the

          6  first time we actually got into the files, was all

          7  postis (phonetic) activity. We couldn't see the

          8  files before we had those permissions.

          9                 And as we looked at the files, there

         10  were some files where one case is two or three

         11  gigantic cartons of material and not only do we have

         12  to go through every piece of paper in that file and

         13  interpret what it means, but every one of those

         14  files also has a number of potential interviews

         15  associated with, as well, someone when we started

         16  the work a little later than we would have liked,

         17  but really it's because as we get into the files, as

         18  we sort of project how much paper we're going to

         19  look at, how much analysis we have to do, how many

         20  people we're going to have to interview, how many

         21  hospitals and private agencies we're going to have

         22  to go to get information and talk, that, all that is

         23  sort of wrapped up in the extra six months.

         24                 But we are as concerned as anyone

         25  about the timetable here, and no one wants to do
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          2  this faster than we do, but we need to balance that

          3  with doing really rigorous jobs, so when this is out

          4  it's out and final and it's unassailable.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So you have a

          6  contract that provides you with an unusual degree of

          7  independence by comparison to most contracts.

          8                 MR. JACOBSON: Most.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That's

         10  important, as you can imagine, since you are

         11  investigating the person, the institution that's

         12  hiring you and the credibility of your work

         13  obviously comes into question when you have that

         14  kind of situation.

         15                 MR. JACOBSON: Right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, the

         17  Commissioner seemed to suggest that after all is

         18  said and done ultimately it's he that has the final

         19  sort of say or something like that. I don't want to

         20  be quoted, but I think a question came up in terms

         21  of what happens if your report says one thing,

         22  ultimately he has the public responsibility. Does he

         23  sit with you at all? Does he deliberate with you at

         24  all? Does anybody from ACS have, what kind of

         25  influence do they have at all on what you do?
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          2                 DR. ROSS: We've met with a number of

          3  different groups throughout this process because we

          4  think it's important to get a range of

          5  perspectives.  But to answer your specific question,

          6  we have sat with the Commissioner a handful of times

          7  and it has mostly been in the context of larger

          8  meetings, particularly with the HIV/AIDS Health Care

          9  Advisory Board, chaired by Debra Fraser-Howze. Most

         10  of our contact on a regular basis is with Liz

         11  Roberts and her staff. They have helped us guide

         12  through the files that they have collected,

         13  identified issues that they are encountering and how

         14  they plan to solve them. On occasion they have asked

         15  us how we would prefer that they solve those issues

         16  in terms of organizing some of the files and getting

         17  contact with the files.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         19                 The files, there are 465 files that

         20  you're dealing with so far? Have you seen those

         21  files, sort of not individually or in terms of any

         22  analysis, but where are those files?

         23                 DR. ROSS: Those files are in a room

         24  called "The Bubble," or "The Vault."

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The Bubble
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          2  and the Vault.

          3                 DR. ROSS: Or The Vault.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Or The Vault.

          5                 DR. ROSS: At 150 William Street. They

          6  take up, at last count, 60 lateral filing cabinets

          7  worth of material.

          8                 Those files are the case management

          9  files. Those are files that ACS itself kept. Because

         10  most of the foster care is provided by contract

         11  agencies. There is another huge volume of paper

         12  that's probably equal to that out at the private

         13  agencies.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Reflecting

         15  additional cases, or reflecting information related

         16  to the 465?

         17                 DR. ROSS: To the 465.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You know this

         19  definitively?

         20                 DR. ROSS: No. This is an approximate

         21  number. And we do get a lot of that information from

         22  Children's Services. We will be verifying all of

         23  that information.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. What I

         25  want to be clear about is, files that are not in The
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          2  Bubble, or wherever you call it, that are at the

          3  institutions, are those files related to the 465 or

          4  could they be additional cases?

          5                 DR. ROSS: No, they would be related

          6  to the 465. So, there's two sets of files that are

          7  kept.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          9                 DR. ROSS: ACS's oversight and case

         10  management files.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Very good.

         12                 DR. ROSS: And the case planning files

         13  that are kept by the private agencies themselves.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you

         15  anticipate that there will be additional files?

         16  Additional cases?

         17                 DR. ROSS: We're not responsible for

         18  that part of it.

         19                 And as Liz Roberts described to you,

         20  if we do hear of additional cases, we would

         21  certainly follow-up on those.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Some of the

         23  questions that we asked were referred to you for

         24  answers, in terms of what you have found so far. So,

         25  you have a contract, you know where the files are,
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          2  you've had some preliminary hands-on with the files,

          3  what have you found so far?

          4                 DR. ROSS: I have some graphs and

          5  charts that I can show you that answer some of your

          6  specific questions.

          7                 I will point out that this is

          8  preliminary analysis. We haven't pinned down all the

          9  administrative data that we need and all the

         10  different pieces of the administrative data, and

         11  we're working on that really hard. So, you'll notice

         12  on all of these charts that it says preliminary

         13  analysis, and I just want to caution you that it may

         14  be the case that we come back to you and this data

         15  has slight changes. We don't expect serious changes

         16  from what we're presenting, and if there are serious

         17  changes from this information, we will certainly

         18  explain why they occurred, and why those changes

         19  happened.

         20                 Do you want me to take you through

         21  what we've got here?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You can just

         23  tell me what you found.

         24                 What did you find?

         25                 DR. JACOBSON: Okay, if you look at
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          2  the first set of graphs, it has both the date of

          3  birth and the date of entry into foster care. And

          4  you can notice two things that are important from

          5  that graph. The first is that the majority of kids

          6  came in between, were both born and came in the care

          7  between 1987 and 1992, that were the largest number

          8  of kids that were involved in the clinical trials

          9  that we know of.

         10                 We also can see that the date of

         11  birth and the time of entry in the care are very

         12  close together. That's because most of the cases

         13  came in when the children were very young. In a

         14  number of cases, children entered care within their

         15  first six months.

         16                 If you look at the second chart

         17  there, the pie chart, you can see that where the

         18  kids were initially placed, the type of placement

         19  that they went into when they first came into care,

         20  the majority, about 68 percent were placed in foster

         21  care boarding homes, 16 percent were placed in

         22  kinship homes, and the remainder in some type of

         23  congregate care.

         24                 If you turn to the third graph, we

         25  found that about 37 of the kids involved had
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          2  multiple stays in foster care. So, they came into

          3  care, they left care, they came back in. In four

          4  cases they had three stays in foster care. And

          5  again, this is the year of entry of the kids that

          6  participated in foster care. And again, you'll see

          7  again, it's 1989, 1990, 1991, 1992, and this

          8  corresponds with a period when there are huge

          9  entries into the child welfare system in general in

         10  New York City, as you are probably well aware.

         11                 On any given day in the early

         12  nineties, as many as 50,000 kids would be in foster

         13  care, as opposed to today where it's on any given

         14  day it's less than 20,000 children.

         15                 If you go to the next bar chart, we

         16  list out the length of stay, length of time of the

         17  first stay in care, the second stay and the third

         18  stay. We believe the median stay was about four

         19  years. There's a lot of variation, there's a number

         20  of kids who stayed for a month or less, and then

         21  there's a number of kids who stayed for many years.

         22  At least in a few cases there were kids who have

         23  spent their entire life in foster care.

         24                 And in related to your last pie

         25  chart, your previous question, Council Member
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          2  Perkins, of the number of people, number of children

          3  who passed away while in foster care and in clinical

          4  trials, our number right now is 76 children, or

          5  about 17 percent of the children who were involved

          6  in clinical trials passed away while in care. A

          7  couple things to think about on that is that a large

          8  number of children have passed away, unfortunately

          9  and tragically, from HIV and AIDS.

         10                 And second, this number is of kids

         11  who are discharged from care. There are a number of

         12  kids who were discharged at some point in the 90,

         13  and we have not followed up on those, what happened

         14  to those children since they left care.

         15                 We have met with the Health

         16  Department to try to see if we might get access to

         17  the Department of Vital Statistics, which would have

         18  death certificates and other types, that type of

         19  information. It's unclear to me now whether we'll be

         20  able to get it but we will work with them and their

         21  attorneys to see what we can do in terms of

         22  complying with confidentiality requirements that

         23  they have in trying to find out as much about how

         24  the kids are doing today.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, since
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          2  your contract has been settled, how much time have

          3  you spent in this type of work, in the real

          4  nitty-gritty of what you're supposed to be doing?

          5  How many months have you been involved?

          6                 DR. ROSS: We got access to the files

          7  on September 8th. So, since then we've had access to

          8  the files and during that time we've both been

          9  working, we've been working with the administrative

         10  data, we have been reviewing files, case management

         11  files at 150 William Street. We reviewed files at

         12  the private foster care agencies.

         13                 There is also another set of files,

         14  two other sets of files we'll need to review. One is

         15  from the Pediatric AIDS Unit, which is a division of

         16  Children's Services; and there is also a whole

         17  series of policy memos that we'll need to review to

         18  establish what the policy was, what it required

         19  Children's Services to do, so that we can then find

         20  out how closely we followed the policy that was in

         21  place at the time. We do know that that policy

         22  changed over time.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, in

         24  effect, I guess it's about three months?

         25                 DR. ROSS: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: September,

          3  October, November and December.

          4                 And you are -- just so I'm clear

          5  you're anticipating with the new schedule to

          6  finished in what month?

          7                 DR. ROSS: In approximately 18 months

          8  from now.

          9                 So, let me guide you a little bit

         10  through the process that we have to go through.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         12                 DR. ROSS: If that's helpful?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

         14                 DR. ROSS: All of this project has to

         15  be reviewed by Vera's Institutional Review Board,

         16  and what that means in practice is that when we hire

         17  a small army of people to go to train, that we will

         18  train and then go through this massive paper, we

         19  have to tell our IRB exactly what those people will

         20  be looking for. We cannot go and do a project and

         21  just have them look willy-nilly through the files.

         22  We have a whole coding document that we've developed

         23  about what they'll be looking for.

         24                 We also, when we go to interview

         25  people in this project, we have to tell our IRB
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          2  exactly what we're going to be asking those people.

          3  We have to give them a whole list of interview

          4  questions that we have, for each of the groups of

          5  people, whether this is the medical researchers,

          6  whether it's people who are involved in policy,

          7  whether it's community advocates, and eventually the

          8  children themselves or their care-givers. We have to

          9  not only write the interview protocol, we also have

         10  to develop an informed consent that our IRB will

         11  sign off on to make sure that we comply with the

         12  federal regulations around the ethical treatment of

         13  human subjects.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Just one

         15  final question.

         16                 The role of pharmaceuticals, have you

         17  looked at that?

         18                 DR. ROSS: We have had some

         19  discussions with the Pediatric AIDS Clinical Trial

         20  Group about how pharmaceuticals interacted with the

         21  clinical trials.

         22                 It is our understand at this time,

         23  and I do want to caution you on this, we haven't

         24  done all our work on this, that the primary role of

         25  the pharmaceutical companies was to provide the
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          2  medication involved.

          3                 We also understand that there may

          4  have been some issues, and, again, this is very

          5  preliminary, of concerns about what happened to kids

          6  after they ended clinical trials, if that trial

          7  proved successful. So there were concerns that kids

          8  would continue to receive medications that they were

          9  doing well on after the clinical trial ended, but

         10  before the drug was approved by the FDA.

         11                 In other words, there might be an

         12  interim period where the drug had not been approved

         13  so it would not be paid for by medical insurance,

         14  but that the kid was benefitting from it.

         15                 But again, that's very preliminary.

         16  We don't know enough about that yet. We do know that

         17  when researchers put together their proposals to the

         18  National Institutes of Health, they have to reveal

         19  any relationship they have with the pharmaceutical

         20  companies, and that that same requirement is made

         21  for medical researchers who publish articles and

         22  medical journals. So, when they submit their

         23  article, they then get peer reviewed by other

         24  researchers, they have to disclose any financial

         25  relationship they have with pharmaceutical
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          2  companies.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And are we

          4  finding any conflicts of interest in that vain?

          5                 DR. ROSS: Not at this time, but,

          6  again, it's early.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You haven't

          8  looked yet, but you will be looking for that as

          9  well, I assume?

         10                 DR. ROSS: That's right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And the

         12  pharmaceuticals in particular that were involved,

         13  that I guess you will get a listing of who they

         14  were.

         15                 Now, there has been a lot of good

         16  news that the trials were helpful, but there's not

         17  as -- it's not as clearly expressed as to whether or

         18  not in some instances they were inappropriate or

         19  harmful.

         20                 Have you looked at that? Or will you

         21  be looking at that? And what have you found?

         22                 DR. ROSS: Dr. Lifflander has taken

         23  the lead in looking at that question so I'll let her

         24  answer you.

         25                 DR. LIFFLANDER: I'm going to try to
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          2  answer that question. What we have started doing is

          3  looking through the published reports of all, any of

          4  the clinical trials that we think children in foster

          5  care during that period participated in.

          6                 We have reviewed close to 50

          7  published reports from clinical trials. And those

          8  reports generally state what were they trying to do,

          9  and how did kids do in those clinical trials.

         10                 We will not -- that will give us an

         11  idea of how the studies went. It will not give us an

         12  idea of how each individual child did in the study,

         13  and we will be looking at that.

         14                 Generally the clinical trials, there

         15  are several reasons that, there are several of what

         16  we could consider end-points of a clinical trial. If

         17  a kid was doing worse on the trial medication,

         18  generally there was a protocol written into the

         19  trials, kid starts to do worse, they get either

         20  switched to a different part of that trial, or they

         21  get switched to the best available medication at the

         22  time.

         23                 If the kid is having severe side

         24  effects, moderate or severe side effects on

         25  medication, there is a piece of each protocol that
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          2  says how that should be managed so that kids are not

          3  remaining on a drug that they're doing poorly on or

          4  that they're having problems with.

          5                 In addition to that, one of the

          6  things we've learned is that there is a very close

          7  regulatory review process for each trial, and most

          8  of the trials have what are called the Data Safety

          9  Monitoring Board, who are independent scientists not

         10  involved in that study, who look at the data

         11  blinded, and can either say this trial needs to stop

         12  now because kids in one part of it are doing so much

         13  better than kids in the other part, that it's not

         14  fair to deprive other kids of this medication, or

         15  they can say kids in one part are having so many

         16  problems on one medication, it's time to stop.

         17                 So, all of that was, from what we can

         18  tell, was built into all of the clinical trials. And

         19  we will be meeting with the people that did the

         20  regulatory function and we'll be trying, we will ask

         21  them to go through with us step-by-step what the

         22  process was and how they would have identified if

         23  there were problems.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And you will

         25  report on those instances where poorly was the
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          2  experience?

          3                 DR. LIFFLANDER: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It's very

          5  important we emphasize that because otherwise half

          6  the story may not be told.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          9  Council Member.

         10                 Just a couple of quick follow-ups. I

         11  want to just put a point on the issue of the

         12  pharmaceuticals, and make sure I'm hearing this loud

         13  and clear.

         14                 You have a specific line of inquiry

         15  looking for any potential conflicts of interest

         16  involving pharmaceuticals; is that correct?

         17                 DR. ROSS: We will do our best to

         18  examine that issue, yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me put a

         20  point on it again.

         21                 Is it a criterion? Is it something

         22  that in your mission statement -- you know, again, I

         23  respect highly that you created such an independent

         24  methodology and dynamic here for what you did, and

         25  if the answer is it's not 100 percent clear that

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  it's one of the criteria, I would ask on behalf of

          3  Council Member Perkins and myself that you put it in

          4  squarely, since obviously there's a long way to go

          5  in this investigation, that it should be front and

          6  center, as an item to be investigated; how do you

          7  feel about that?

          8                 DR. ROSS: We'll be reviewing the

          9  published reports to see if there were any conflicts

         10  that were disclosed.

         11                 We'll be keeping our eyes open as we

         12  view the policy files, the research protocols, any

         13  case files for any role that pharmaceutical

         14  companies made have played.

         15                 Our ability to track payments that

         16  were made is very limited, but wherever they're

         17  disclosed, we will be making a note of that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Again, I'm

         19  certainly not asking you to follow all the money in

         20  the historic sense. I guess I'm saying if it is

         21  something that your investigators are charged with

         22  looking for and being mindful to follow that which

         23  they can follow, I think that's an important --

         24                 DR. ROSS: That's correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: -- Important
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          2  point.

          3                 As the ACS is, just a couple of

          4  disconnected points here, as the ACS policy is

          5  finalized related to clinical trials going forward,

          6  clearly your investigation will be ongoing. So, let

          7  me ask two point in time questions. Will you be,

          8  based on the knowledge you gain here, but also based

          9  on your historic work as an entity, will you be

         10  critiquing ACS policy at the time of its publication

         11  and offering your -- I'm not saying necessarily

         12  negatively, will you be offering your evaluation of

         13  that policy when it's published?

         14                 DR. ROSS: I think we will be

         15  offering, we will be showing where strengths and

         16  weaknesses may have occurred.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm saying in

         18  the new policy that's about to be published, will

         19  you play a role as a critic or analyst of that

         20  policy?

         21                 DR. ROSS: We received a copy of the

         22  draft policy, we commented on it, and both myself

         23  and Dr. Richard Dudley, the Chair of our Advisory

         24  Committee were present at a meeting where it was

         25  discussed yesterday.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If you approve

          3  of the final policy, will that be made public? If

          4  you have concerns with the final policy, will that

          5  also be made public?

          6                 MR. JACOBSON: Yes, sure. I mean, this

          7  is going to be a big, complicated report and to the

          8  extent part of it focused on whatever their policy

          9  is at the time, we will certainly opine on that. I

         10  mean, both directly, but also I mean the findings

         11  will clearly, whether they are critical or

         12  supportive show that criticism or support. But to

         13  the extent we think that based on our findings

         14  they're policy needs to change, either marginally or

         15  dramatically, we'll clearly say that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I guess I'm

         17  also concerned about sequencing. The new policy is

         18  due in less than six months. You're report is due in

         19  18 months, so the new policy commissioner did a very

         20  good job of saying it will be published, and

         21  obviously there will be hearings here and one thing

         22  or another. I'm concerned that your independent role

         23  be present in all things. I think it's crucial.

         24                 By the way, I think it's also

         25  important for the public to understand and
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          2  appreciate your independence by seeing your activism

          3  on this issue.

          4                 So, I'm saying when new policy comes

          5  out, it could be February, it could be March,

          6  whatever it is, will you be offering sort of a real

          7  time critique, even though your larger investigation

          8  will continue for many months thereafter?

          9                 MR. JACOBSON: To the extent that

         10  based on our review when their policy comes out, and

         11  we've already commented on it, we think there are

         12  problems with it, we will tell them there are

         13  problems with it.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And will it be

         15  public also? Will you make yourselves public players

         16  in this? I'm not saying because I want to see

         17  conflict. I want the public to see your independent

         18  view on this.

         19                 MR. JACOBSON: Yes. No, that will be

         20  part, we plan to do regular updates that we post on

         21  our website and that would be part of it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If at any point

         23  in your investigation a similar question, you feel

         24  that something profoundly important has been

         25  uncovered, even though the final investigation is

                                                            126

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  not, you know, complete, again, will you both to ACS

          3  and to the public put forward information that you

          4  think the public need to disseminate immediately,

          5  even though the larger process continues?

          6                 MR. JACOBSON: Yes. I mean, I think

          7  the standard we have to use is this, whether it's

          8  tremendously important or even a little important,

          9  is this information ready to go out now? Have we

         10  done what we need to do to release it? As long as it

         11  meets that standard, that kind of information will

         12  make it into our updates, and the only thing that

         13  won't is work that's ongoing or stuff we're not sure

         14  of or stuff we still have questions about. But

         15  issues that we think are resolved or great

         16  satisfaction resolved, that type of information,

         17  good, bad or indifferent, will be in our public

         18  reports.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Very good.

         20                 I think that's what I wanted to ask.

         21  I know Council Member Perkins has the last word on

         22  this.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: One final

         24  question.

         25                 You know, race is always in the room,
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          2  and I see you kind of acknowledge it in your

          3  testimony. And, so, will you be looking at that

          4  racial aspect of this? Or have you started to look

          5  at that? What have you found?

          6                 DR. ROSS: I think there's a number of

          7  ways to answer this question. I think the first is

          8  that Vera, as an institution, takes cultural

          9  competency and knowledge about how race influences

         10  the issues that we explore very seriously. It's

         11  mandatory to have diversity training for everybody

         12  who works at Vera. We just initiated a speaker

         13  series where Vera's staff present information on how

         14  race influences the issues that they work on and how

         15  it intersects with those issues.

         16                 And we also have a fairly diverse

         17  staff among the research staff. The majority are

         18  people of color or Hispanic origin. So, we're very

         19  aware of racial issues in everything we do. Not only

         20  is race front and center in child welfare, but in

         21  criminal justice as well, and we do a lot of work

         22  around those issues. One of our newer projects is

         23  examining the role of race in how prosecutors make

         24  decisions.

         25                 In terms of this particular project,
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          2  we're going to rely a lot on the expertise that's

          3  available in the Commissioner's HIV/AIDS Health Care

          4  Advisory Board. We've already met with them twice.

          5  We will meet with them again. We hope to meet with

          6  them on an ongoing basis and they have been very

          7  giving of their time.

          8                 The advisory board that Vera itself

          9  is recruiting is going to be diverse, diverse

         10  professionally, diverse racially and ethnically, and

         11  we are close to finishing our recruitment of that

         12  board, and when we do we will release the names and

         13  backgrounds of those board members.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         16  Council member.

         17                 Thank you to this panel. We really

         18  appreciate your testimony very much. We appreciate

         19  the work you're doing. Have good holidays and then

         20  get back to work. Thank you.

         21                 MR. JACOBSON: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 We'd like to now bring forward two of

         25  the very good friends of this Committee, from the
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          2  HIV Health Advisory Committee to ACS, Debra

          3  Fraser-Howze, and Gail Nayowith. And we thank them

          4  both. I think they're both here. Yes. We thank them

          5  both for their patience. We thank them for their

          6  public service, and we thank them for their critical

          7  thinking, which will undoubtedly be on display here

          8  as always. How is that for lead up?

          9                 MS. FRASER-HOWZE: It's a lot of

         10  pressure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You can handle

         12  it.

         13                 MS. FRASER-HOWZE: I'm going to go

         14  first.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Very good.

         16                 MS. FRASER-HOWZE: Thank you, Chairman

         17  DeBlasio and Perkins, Councilman Perkins, I have to

         18  say, because I call him "Perk," something funny

         19  happened today, I've been watching different Council

         20  members come in and out of the room and I realize

         21  how old I've gotten when you know one-half of the

         22  New York City Council that you either grew up with

         23  or knew or worked with is putting in life (sic), so

         24  that's the revealing comment.

         25                 Let me first say that I am very
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          2  honored to have been asked to present today, so I

          3  thank you as well, to this body, and I commend you

          4  for what I thought was some of the most thoughtful

          5  and thought-provoking questions in your request to

          6  ACS in answering various things, very precise, very

          7  clear, and questions that absolutely should be

          8  answered.

          9                 Many of you know me, I'm Debra

         10  Fraser-Howze, and I'm the founding President and CEO

         11  of the National Black Leadership Commission on AIDS.

         12  Since we founded Black in '87, we've become the

         13  oldest and largest public policy and community

         14  development agency, working on AIDS on behalf of

         15  black communities across America.

         16                 We started here in New York. Our

         17  mission has been to organize, educate and solicit an

         18  adequate response to HIV and AIDS among indigenous

         19  black leaders, and that includes clergy and elected

         20  officials and social policy, expert business, and

         21  media professionals, for communities on all related,

         22  AIDS-related issues, and to focus them wherever

         23  resources are allocated and policy is formulated.

         24                 We worked, of course, with the City

         25  Council, the New York State Assembly, Congressional
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          2  Black Caucus, to help these communities and their

          3  fight against AIDS, with the help of Councilman

          4  Vann, certainly Councilman Perkins and others, we

          5  have been successful in securing new funding for the

          6  black church in New York, organizationally not

          7  looked at as the place where people will be going to

          8  get AIDS services, but certainly viable.

          9                 We have organized five affiliates

         10  across New York State, an additional six in hard-hit

         11  cities across the United States, all headed by black

         12  clergy.

         13                 We've worked with the Congressional

         14  Black Caucus to develop and enact the Minority

         15  HIV/AIDS Initiative, securing more than 1.19 billion

         16  dollars in new funding for cities across the nation

         17  in the last five years alone, and that includes a

         18  large amount of money, new funding, coming to New

         19  York, that was the first federal investment of its

         20  size supporting prevention in communities of color

         21  in the 25-year history of this epidemic.

         22                 So, this is a homecoming for us, so I

         23  just wanted to put out there who we are and why we

         24  felt both privileged, honored and a responsibility

         25  to be a part of what ACS is doing and looking at,
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          2  and it was an honor to be asked by them to chair

          3  this panel for a number of reasons. And one has to

          4  do with the capacity of the staff, the commitment

          5  that we see at ACS, and we do really believe that

          6  the Commissioner is really a good guy, so he's

          7  really trying to get answers to the question.

          8                 This issue affects our children,

          9  those who come from the communities that I advocate

         10  for, both here in New York and across the nation.

         11  And I must affirm that I am first and foremost an

         12  advocate for minority communities, often left out

         13  and underrepresented in the world of AIDS. I take

         14  that role very seriously.

         15                 I know many of the advocates that

         16  have issues with the clinical trials conducted on

         17  our children, and I must agree with them on many of

         18  their concerns.

         19                 But I must also acknowledge the

         20  environment and at the time the trials were in

         21  question when they occurred during the eighties and

         22  nineties and I can remember how vigorously we fought

         23  as a black people and Latino people to ensure that

         24  HIV positive children who were dying at

         25  unprecedented rates would be advantaged by these

                                                            133

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  participation in the clinical trials.

          3                 In addition to foster children we

          4  were concerned with the large number of black and

          5  Latino border babies, HIV positive children left in

          6  hospitals by drug-addicted mothers. We fought

          7  vigorously for all of those children to have

          8  recognition. But let me be clear, we did this

          9  advocacy with the clear goal that they would receive

         10  the same treatment, care and protections as their

         11  white counterparts.

         12                 It would be disturbing and

         13  unacceptable if we find that the children in foster

         14  care who were 90 percent black did not receive the

         15  same safeguards as their white counterparts across

         16  the country. And let there be no mistake, I am here,

         17  this advocate and here to protect and secure the

         18  rights of children that look like me, children who

         19  are often the majority in the foster care system.

         20                 New York City is the epicenter of the

         21  AIDS epidemic, and I think Vera spoke to that in

         22  their remarks. With this in mind, this HIV/AIDS

         23  Health Care Advisory Panel has been established to

         24  do three things, and this may be an answer to some

         25  of the questions that were raised earlier.
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          2                 One, to advise ACS throughout the

          3  review process in looking at the historical

          4  practices and policies.

          5                 Two, to ensure an open line of

          6  communication between community stakeholders and

          7  leaders, the community at large, throughout the

          8  review and policy development process.

          9                 One of the questions you asked I

         10  believe Vera at one point, you know, in regard to

         11  going back out and having this be a transparent

         12  process, some of those responsibilities will and

         13  should be ours, to talk directly to the community,

         14  and we certainly want to maintain an open dialogue

         15  and communication with the members of the City

         16  Council.

         17                 And we're also to advise ACS on

         18  methods of strengthening the agency's policies on

         19  any and all involvement of children under their care

         20  in any and all clinical trials. I believe that there

         21  needs to be some standard policies that are going to

         22  protect children whether they have AIDS, liver

         23  failure, any kind of clinical trial that they're

         24  going into.

         25                 So, Mr. Chairman, as I said, we take
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          2  this task very seriously, and I take my task very

          3  seriously as Chair of this Committee.

          4                 And I want to give you a solemn

          5  promise that each and every one of these objectives

          6  will be fulfilled.

          7                 In return, I ask that the Committee

          8  recognize that we may be hampered from time to time

          9  by confidentiality laws designed to protect the

         10  children and their parents.

         11                 While this may create some delay, it

         12  will not inhibit us from fulfilling our mandate.

         13                 I ask that you allow us to continue

         14  to engage in this very spirited, and believe me, it

         15  is, debates on policy, to ensure that we receive

         16  answers to all the questions that you submitted to

         17  ACS, and as of yesterday we completed work on our

         18  draft for policy document that will help guide ACS

         19  in some standard operating procedures for all

         20  children entering clinical trials for all illnesses.

         21                 Understanding that this is a fluid

         22  process, we will continue to work with the

         23  Commissioner on these policies and you should know

         24  that the panel has faith in both the process and the

         25  documents.
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          2                 The Health Advisory Panel, ACS, Vera,

          3  the Medical Review Boards that are involved, all

          4  have one goal in mind and that is to ensure that we

          5  would never allow our children to be vulnerable

          6  again, so that we are establishing policies that

          7  completely protect them, and whatever clinical

          8  trials they may engage in.

          9                 We will work with the Council, and I

         10  assure you, on this in an open and transparent

         11  process that supports trust and understanding. We

         12  ask you to be with us, as we would be with you, and

         13  I believe that all together we're going to make this

         14  not only right, but a symbol of how to conduct this

         15  kind of corrective action for all the cities

         16  involved in this process. This is not just New York,

         17  but we are the premiere city, we are the epicenter

         18  of this epidemic and we will be using whatever

         19  policies we set here, whatever processes we use as

         20  an example for the rest of the country to proceed.

         21  And the ultimate goal for me in participation in

         22  this is ultimately the protection of all children.

         23                 So, thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you, as

         25  always.
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          2                 Ms. Nayowith.

          3                 MS. NAYOWITH: Tough act to follow.

          4  Thank you for asking us to be here today, and I

          5  co-chair with Debra and Anna Olivera from the Gay

          6  Men's Health Crisis, the ACS HIV/AIDS Panel.

          7                 A couple of things. First of all, and

          8  I'm going to kind of go off my remarks to kind of

          9  keep it short. We very much appreciate the Council's

         10  interest in cultivating an environment where the

         11  truth about the clinical trials can be revealed.

         12  That's our interest. We want questions surfaced, and

         13  we want answers given, and that's the sole reason in

         14  our participation, and I agree with Debra about

         15  that.

         16                 From our perspective, the facts that

         17  will be revealed by the investigations that are

         18  underway will allow for the examination and the

         19  creation of policies and procedures that will make

         20  it possible for us to feel confident that children's

         21  interests are protected and that children are well

         22  served, and, in fact, that children in foster care

         23  are equally able to access important clinical

         24  interventions and clinical treatments through

         25  clinical trials, as would other children who live at
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          2  home with their parents or are otherwise situated.

          3                 So, we want kids who are in foster

          4  care to be specially protected, but we don't want

          5  them denied access to treatments that could be, have

          6  life-saving impacts for that.

          7                 The Council, and the General Welfare

          8  Committee in particular, has played a key role in

          9  providing oversight and opportunities for

         10  stakeholders to engage in constructive public

         11  dialogue and we encourage you to continue this

         12  oversight.

         13                 From a social science perspective, we

         14  feel confident that the investigation led by the

         15  Vera Institute for Justice is and will be rigorous,

         16  thorough and it's going to reach a conclusion based

         17  on the facts.

         18                 In light of this, it's essential that

         19  we recognize that an investigation like this takes

         20  time. We don't want to rush it. We want to make sure

         21  that nothing is overlooked or missed or that it's

         22  done very well.

         23                 Ultimately we trust that the findings

         24  of this independent review will identify poor

         25  practices that must be corrected, will identify the
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          2  need for more effective procedures, and any other

          3  things that need to be put in place to make sure

          4  that children are safeguarded and that their needs

          5  are protected.

          6                 So, we feel confident that there will

          7  be no sugarcoating of any sort. And we're prepared

          8  for the worst. Although, obviously no one wants to

          9  hear terrible things, we're prepared for things to

         10  be bad, and if they're better than bad, we'd like to

         11  be pleasantly surprised. The threshold is set very

         12  low for me.

         13                 Now, the Commissioner has convened an

         14  HIV and AIDS Advisory Panel comprised of experts in

         15  HIV and AIDS, in medicine, child welfare,

         16  psychiatry, and so forth, to provide guidance

         17  throughout the review process. We can give you a

         18  list of the people, or if you want I can read it

         19  into the record, if you prefer. Do you have a

         20  preference?

         21                 We didn't give you testimony because

         22  the Transit strike has gotten me very screwed up

         23  here from a couple of perspectives.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, we'll put

         25  it in the record. That's fine.
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          2                 MS. NAYOWITH: So, let's see my list.

          3  So, there's Debra, I said, Fraser-Howze; Anna

          4  Olivera. There is Dennis DeLeon, who is the

          5  President of the Latino Commission on AIDS; Dr.

          6  Bennie J. Primm, President, Addiction Research and

          7  Treatment Corps; Dr. Billy Jones; Fatima Goldman,

          8  who is the Executive Director and CEO of the

          9  Federation of Protestant Welfare Agencies; Ernessa

         10  Loperenia, who is the Executive Director of the New

         11  York Council on Adoptable Children; Dr. Megan

         12  McLaughlin; and Dr. Catherine Lobock, who is

         13  Professor Emeritus, Emerita, of Pediatrics at Albert

         14  Einstein College of Medicine, Montefiore Medical

         15  Center. I don't think I left out anybody.

         16                 As co-chair, along with Debra and

         17  Anna, I can attest to the seriousness and ongoing

         18  commitment and rigorous efforts underway to fully

         19  investigate and create more adequate policies

         20  regarding clinical trials and the quality of health

         21  care provided to children in foster care today and

         22  in the future.

         23                 In developing the new draft policy

         24  for new participation of children in foster care in

         25  clinical drug trials, ACS has taken into account the
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          2  many concerns raised by the public, as well as

          3  expert advice offered from us and the child welfare

          4  community as a whole. The policy, as you review it,

          5  you'll note that it incorporates mechanisms that

          6  ensure parental consent, children's safety and

          7  well-being that is monitored throughout their

          8  participation. Each child will be assigned an

          9  independent advocate before participation in trials

         10  begin, among other important safeguards.

         11                 The agency's draft Clinical Trials

         12  Policy augments the responsibilities of ACS's

         13  Division of Child and Family Health, the hospitals

         14  and institutions that conduct clinical drug trials

         15  and the Family Court in an effort to ensure

         16  accountability and oversight.

         17                 We are going to meet regularly to

         18  provide ongoing feedback and recommendations as ACS

         19  develops and implements its policy to make sure,

         20  again, that children are protected.

         21                 I have another half of my testimony

         22  about fatalities. I'm going to skip that, I think,

         23  and I'll just submit that for the record.

         24                 Suffice it to say that from a

         25  children's perspective, for 60 years, Citizens'
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          2  Committee for Children of New York has worked very

          3  hard to ensure that children are healthy, housed,

          4  educated and safe, and to ensure the well-being of

          5  all New York City children.

          6                 We don't shy away from controversy,

          7  hence our participation on this panel. And nor do we

          8  shy away from rich dialogue, public as well as

          9  private.

         10                 I can assure you, as Debra says, we

         11  have some very spirited discussions and we're going

         12  to continue to do so. And as Debra did and as the

         13  Commissioner did, our interest is only in making

         14  sure that children are safeguarded and safe, and

         15  making sure that children in foster care have access

         16  to state-of-the-art treatments and that their

         17  interests are protected and safeguarded.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. I

         19  want to just make a couple of quick comments. I want

         20  to give Bill Perkins a chance to comment or a

         21  question. This will probably be the last meaningful

         22  things I'll say in this term in the City Council as

         23  Chairman of the General Welfare Committee, and I

         24  thought a lot about, not necessarily this moment,

         25  but about this topic.
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          2                 You know, I often say to people, and

          3  we look at government and we look at public policy,

          4  I remind people of the difference between folks who

          5  are elected and folks who aren't elected, and I say

          6  that with honor for folks who are elected, because

          7  the whole concept of our process derives from

          8  elections and people submitting their ideas and

          9  their experience to the public and the public

         10  choosing who will actually do the day-to-day work.

         11  But in my time as Chairman of General Welfare

         12  Committee, I've come to realize more deeply than

         13  ever before that there's another type of leader that

         14  plays a different role, a role that sometimes

         15  transcends that which elected leaders can, sometimes

         16  a greater role, sometimes a supportive role. So,

         17  what I said earlier was not idle, in terms of you

         18  two and in terms of Anna Olivera. There are some

         19  people in our City or in any community that rise

         20  above the normal boundaries, the normal assumptions,

         21  the normal factions, and are considered, you know, I

         22  wouldn't say elders, because that would not be

         23  appropriate in either one of your cases. I wouldn't

         24  say it to either one of you. You have to get past 39

         25  for that designation, and that just wouldn't be --
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          2  that was my holiday present to both of you.

          3                 But I would say there are people who

          4  are seen as leaders, who are seen as, you know,

          5  guardians of the faith, if you will, who are seen as

          6  on a higher level of integrity and service, who are

          7  humans like everyone else and can make mistakes, but

          8  are generally regarded as having the best interests

          9  of the community in mind and the experience and the

         10  wisdom to go with it. So, you three certainly I

         11  think long since passed that standard.

         12                 That's why it's so important here

         13  that your views on this matter, both in terms of the

         14  ultimate outcome and the process along the way. I

         15  can't emphasize enough, you're on the hot seat for a

         16  good reason, you've earned it for better for worse,

         17  for your own time and energy, but you've earned it.

         18  The final policies that come out of this, if they

         19  are not validated by you in good conscience, they

         20  will fail. That's my mandate to you. You believe in

         21  them, and you really in your heart believe it's the

         22  right thing to do, they'll succeed I believe, and if

         23  you don't, they will never have the buy-in and

         24  commitment from government or from community they'll

         25  need. So, that burden is on your shoulder.
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          2                 I think you also take on a role, I

          3  think Bill Perkins has taken on more than anyone in

          4  this whole process, but you must as well, which is

          5  to continue to force sunshine into the process and

          6  dialogue and openness, which government by its

          7  nature resists, but which is actually the best thing

          8  in the world for government, in terms of achieving

          9  its mission. And I think Bill often has educated me

         10  on that point on how we have to dig deeper.

         11                 And then lastly, real concerns were

         12  raised, and I think they were extremely valid, about

         13  potential conflict between trying to get at the

         14  truth and trying to point out painful realities,

         15  even realities that are being fixed. And at the same

         16  time, trying to convince people in need that they

         17  should actually engage government. You know, are we

         18  creating a sense of government as the enemy, so that

         19  then when there is another problem to be addressed

         20  people don't feel the comfort to go to that same

         21  entity. Do we create a catch-22 where people in

         22  danger turn away from the one place that could

         23  actually give them safety?

         24                 Well, I don't think we have done

         25  that. I don't think we have to do that at all. But I
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          2  do think part of what allows us to avoid that

          3  conflict is again, you know, the deep involvement

          4  and critiquing, and ultimately, hopefully,

          5  validation from each of you, but also a kind of

          6  insistent, insistent role in helping everyone in

          7  government to understand that dialogue with the

          8  community is the basis of our system. And it may be

          9  painful, it may be painstaking, it may be difficult,

         10  it may engender setbacks, it may engender conflicts

         11  and difficult moments and unpleasantries, but it's

         12  the only way that we will ultimately achieve a goal

         13  of protecting children. And that out of this

         14  experience, it is in fact the role of ACS and the

         15  mayoralty, and everyone else involved, to go into

         16  the community to explain what was and what will be

         17  and to make clearer than ever through that dialogue

         18  and through the humble request of the community for

         19  acceptance and support of the new policies and the

         20  new approaches that in fact government is the ally,

         21  and is the facilitator and remembers who ultimately

         22  controls the fate of government.

         23                 So, I am sorry to put such a large

         24  mandate upon you, but you've earned it and your City

         25  needs you, and Bill Perkins will not have this role
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          2  in this Council, and I think that is a great loss.

          3  The Council will determine the roles the rest of us

          4  play in the coming weeks. But since neither Bill nor

          5  I can say we will be exactly involved in this

          6  particular issue going forward, I'd like to pass the

          7  baton with full faith to both of you and to Anna,

          8  and know that we are in the best of hands.

          9                 MS. NAYOWITH: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         11  Perkins.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         13  very much. I want to echo your comments as it

         14  relates to the panelists. I have to take some

         15  liberty in recognizing Debra. You know, I'm older

         16  than Debra, but she's always been sort of a mentor

         17  and counselor for me on these matters, as well as

         18  other matters, and so I have a very special regard

         19  for the work that she's done which has been heroic

         20  and really in some ways revolutionary considering

         21  what she's been able to accomplish.

         22                 And again, I just want to make sure

         23  that you both appreciate how much I personally

         24  appreciate what you're trying to do and what you've

         25  been doing as it relates to children in this City.
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          2  This Committee is a very personal committee for me.

          3  I've been on this Committee for eight years, and I

          4  guess of all the work that I've done, it's the work

          5  of this Committee that the best defines me, in terms

          6  of my history and what it is that I've tried to

          7  accomplish in this Council. So, I want to thank the

          8  Chair at this time for allowing me to not only be a

          9  part of this Committee, but have some impact on what

         10  work we've been able to do, and on the wonderful

         11  work that you've done, and you've chaired it very

         12  well, and I thank you so much for that.

         13                 Let me just ask a quick question or

         14  two.

         15                 One is, I don't know if you've had an

         16  opportunity to really get into this yet. I know

         17  you've just sort of gotten organized, but do you

         18  have any idea of what didn't happen that should have

         19  happened?

         20                 MS. FRASER-HOWZE: No, we don't have

         21  any idea of specifics of what should have happened.

         22  We know something is not right. And I think that ACS

         23  will agree that we're probably going to find some

         24  issues, and we actually need to find those issues so

         25  that we can correct them both in policy and
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          2  understanding so that this does not happen again.

          3                 When we have a situation where we

          4  have numbers of kids involved in clinical trials,

          5  and it's even a question as to whether or not the

          6  kids had the appropriate protections, that we can't

          7  answer immediately, something is wrong with that.

          8                 Is it anybody's fault? Is it sort of

          9  administrative? When we go, and Vera goes in and

         10  really looks at it case-by-case will they find that

         11  everything went okay? Maybe. But right now, as the

         12  Commissioner said, definitively we know nothing.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, one

         14  thing we do know, unfortunately, is that at least

         15  from a bureaucracy point of view, things were not

         16  managed right. I mean, one of the most alarming

         17  things that we learned is the dramatic increase in

         18  the number of cases discovered after we began this,

         19  and the inability, the research has to be done just

         20  to figure out what was done and what wasn't done. It

         21  just seems that that's a signal of maybe something

         22  unfortunately more substantial in terms of the

         23  policies and the practices.

         24                 I'm now just simply talking about the

         25  clerical bookkeeping, you know, stuff that a
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          2  significant bureaucracy is challenged to deal with

          3  or responsible for dealing with, and so would you

          4  have any comment about that aspect of it?

          5                 MS. NAYOWITH: Well, here's what I

          6  could say, historically child welfare files were not

          7  electronic. They weren't maintained electronically.

          8  There was a lot of data that wasn't maintained

          9  electronically.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are you

         11  saying all their files are in this bad of shape?

         12                 MS. NAYOWITH: No, no. I'm saying

         13  exactly the opposite, exactly the opposite. And

         14  historically, years and years and years ago, back to

         15  the Bureau of Child Welfare, this was a story that

         16  is a legendary story that case files were in

         17  hallways and were in boxes and closets and this is

         18  the story of the field.

         19                 It's no longer quite the story of the

         20  field. This is a bad situation that has to be fixed,

         21  and there's more information that has to be

         22  collected from the case files, and the State and the

         23  City have worked very hard and the voluntary

         24  agencies have worked very hard to try to figure out

         25  how to keep records that were retrievable and where
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          2  children's progress can be monitored and assessed.

          3  That's the goal.

          4                 Do we expect 100 percent perfection

          5  in this particular case. No, I expect a lot of

          6  surprises, but I don't want any, but I assume there

          7  will be some, and I think that ACS is working very

          8  hard to identify cases where there may have been

          9  participation in the clinical trials and that those

         10  cases will all be submitted to Vera for review.

         11  That's our expectation.

         12                 I can't imagine a scenario where

         13  there are thousands of kids in care where you can

         14  manage any more on a manual system, it's just not

         15  going to be. So, the technology is going to help us,

         16  and I think that should give you some confidence.

         17  But there is some clean-up to do in this particular

         18  instance, and I think that that is really why we're

         19  all here. Because we want to make sure that we know

         20  what happened, and that we have a way of tracking

         21  progress going forward.

         22                 MS. FRASER-HOWZE: One thing that I've

         23  realized in this short amount of time that we've

         24  been together is that the staff is very talented,

         25  very bright, and I do believe that from an
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          2  administrative standpoint, somebody or something

          3  needs to be set aside to look at how those things

          4  are handled, how, you know, files are maintained,

          5  kept. Now I'm sure they're find. But files that you

          6  inherit from other administrations and turnover of

          7  commissioners and people and those kinds of things.

          8  And I know that that's not going to be our role per

          9  se, but we're going to do everything that we can in

         10  our power to help and make recommendations so that

         11  we can ensure that those things are in order even as

         12  they turn over to the next group of people that will

         13  be in there.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: One last

         15  question.

         16                 Have you had any sort of thoughts

         17  with regard to how transparent the program or the

         18  policy was implemented?

         19                 MS. FRASER-HOWZE: The old policy?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

         21                 MS. FRASER-HOWZE: We won't know until

         22  we get information back from Vera whether or not the

         23  old policy was even maintained from a case-to-case

         24  basis. We won't know.

         25                 And that's, there's nothing more that
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          2  I can really say about that. We won't know until we

          3  get more information. And I know that it's

          4  frustrating to keep hearing everybody refer to Vera,

          5  because it's becoming frustrating to me, but the

          6  reality is that when you have, you've got a mix of

          7  things here, you've got a mix of AIDS and its own

          8  world of files and politics and privacy and laws,

          9  and then you've got a mix of child welfare and its

         10  own world of the same set of the circumstances that

         11  have sort of collided together and all ended up in

         12  ACS around 465 of our children. So there's a lot to

         13  sort out and it just has to be what it is to sort of

         14  get it sort out.

         15                 But I think that what's going to be

         16  important for this Committee is the transparency

         17  moving forward that we should have some

         18  responsibility of coming to the public, talking to

         19  the community, and talking to the Council in regard

         20  to what is being done, actually translating for the

         21  community the information. Because the AIDS

         22  information is technical and child welfare

         23  information is technical. It's going to be our job

         24  to translate that so that everybody in the community

         25  can understand what went on right and what went on
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          2  wrong.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          4  very much. I think that's very important. And

          5  especially not only with regard to past, but

          6  obviously as we move forward into the future.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          8  much, Council member.

          9                 I want to thank our dear friends. I

         10  wish you happy holidays, I wish you good rest and

         11  get ready to pick up the mantle we have laid down

         12  for you.

         13                 MS. NAYOWITH: After we walk home.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's right.

         15                 MS. FRASER-HOWZE: Yes, we're honored.

         16  Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you so

         18  much. We have public testimony. We have two-minute

         19  public testimony from two people and then we are

         20  done for the year. No, it's just two individuals

         21  that have asked for public testimony. Andrew White

         22  of the New Schools. Is he still here, Andrew White?

         23  No. And Rolando Bini. Mr. Bini, are you here?

         24                 Okay, Mr. Bini is the only one. We're

         25  going to give two minutes, as is the history of this
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          2  panel, two minutes for any member of the public who

          3  wishes, and then we are shutting down. Mr. Bini is

          4  the only one who has registered, so he is the only

          5  one who will have the opportunity. It's too late to

          6  register. This is the only one.

          7                 Mr. Bini, we welcome you.

          8                 MR. BINI: Good afternoon. My name is

          9  Rolando Bini. I'm the Director of Parents In Action.

         10  We work for Family Preservation and for System

         11  Change.

         12                 First, whatever happened at the

         13  Incarnation Children's Center and the other 25

         14  foster care agencies, we don't want ever to happen

         15  again. And in order for that we need to do some

         16  system change. We are very grateful that the present

         17  Commissioner has been working on system change and

         18  reform in ACS, although it will take awhile to

         19  trickle down to the troops. But there are other

         20  important players that they need to change otherwise

         21  these abuses are going to keep happening and we

         22  don't want to happen.

         23                 We need to change the foster care

         24  industry. We need to change Family Court, and we

         25  need to change the law guardians, because they don't

                                                            156

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  guard anybody. They don't guard the interests of the

          3  children. The only thing they guard is the business

          4  interests of this industry.

          5                 And we need to realize that foster

          6  care is a profit-driven industry that preys on the

          7  weakest, in the case of New York City's black,

          8  Latinos, and poor immigrants.

          9                 Going to the specifics of the trials,

         10  we know that there are no trials anymore. We heard

         11  that there is only 18 children who are going through

         12  treatment. But the main question, and this is the

         13  core of the problem, are those children's parents

         14  agreeing to those treatments, or it's under

         15  coercion? It is very important that they should be

         16  uncoerced informed consent, otherwise we are going

         17  to keep repeating the same mistakes over and over

         18  again.

         19                 Also, if you do a little search on

         20  the psychiatrist who is in charge of the Incarnation

         21  Children's Center, Dr. Ng. He is still doing some

         22  clinical trials on suicidal tendencies on children

         23  with HIV. And we know of a specific case of a child

         24  who, for whatever reason, still is under ACS, and is

         25  under the control of Columbia University, and the
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          2  child is kept a prisoner. He's a teenager by now, 15

          3  years old. So, we need to investigate, because

          4  technically there may be no more trials, but somehow

          5  or another they still keep the children, and there

          6  is a conflict of interest between the foster care

          7  agency and Columbia Presbyterian.

          8                 One last thing about this

          9  introduction bill, 492, which I think it's a good

         10  bill, there is a big conflict of interest there that

         11  seven of the parent advocates appointed by the Mayor

         12  must work for foster care agencies. This is a total

         13  contradiction, because the purpose of the foster

         14  care agencies is to keep the children in foster

         15  care, as many as possible, as long as possible. And

         16  we heard from ACS --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'd like to ask

         18  you to summarize, please.

         19                 MR. BINI: Yes. We heard from ACS just

         20  awhile ago, that there were independent advocates

         21  working for the hospitals. So, obviously those

         22  independent advocates because there was a conflict

         23  of interest working for their hospital, they didn't

         24  do the job. We don't want to repeat that same error.

         25  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you for

          3  your testimony. I'd like to offer at any time that

          4  there is any particular information you want to pass

          5  on to our counsel Jackie Sherman, we always welcome

          6  that, and we appreciate it. And we thank you for

          7  your testimony.

          8                 MR. BINI: Thank you, sir.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Happy holidays

         10  to you. Happy holidays to everyone. And thank you.

         11  This hearing of the General Welfare Committee is now

         12  adjourned.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 4:34 p.m.)
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